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31/12/2013 31/12/2012

PROFIT (millions of )

Recurring profit 31.58 24.70

Capital gains on investment 60.34 -1.80

Taxes -0.32 -0.30

Share in associates 1.01 4.22

Share of profit from assets held for sale
and discontinued operations - 1.48

Consolidated net profit 92.61 28.30

Group share 89.99 28.32

Minority share 2.62 -0.02

Revaluation of non-current financial assets 48.82 23.01

Total comprehensive  income 141.43 51.31

BALANCE SHEET FIGURES (millions of )

Consolidated equity – Group share 971.58 863.99

CASH POSITION

Group cash position 256.12 229.09

NET ASSETS (millions of ) 1

Consolidated net assets 973.14 858.67

KEY FIGURES PER SHARE ()

Equity – Group share 43.26 37.64

Net assets 2 43.33 37.40

Net profit – Group share 3.94 1.23

Total comprehensive income – Group share 6.08 2.23

1 Net assets now excludes the value of own shares.
2  Net assets per share is calculated by dividing net assets by the number of shares issued excluding own shares

Key consolidated figures
of Luxempart’s share price  
from January 2013  
to end-March 2014 vs. Lux X

Consolidated portfolio
Breakdown of portfolio at 
20/03/2014 (estimated value) 
total: : E 1,032 M

Trading and other assets  59 M / 6%

Cash  331 M / 32%

Private equity and funds  149 M / 14%

Supportive investments  493 M / 48%



Luxempart has slightly outperformed Lux X since January 

2013. Lux X was affected by the performances of: SES  

(up 23% for a 22% weighting in the index), Reinet 

(up 16% for a 16% weighting in the index), and KBC  

(up 75% for a 12% weighting in the index), as well as by 

ArcelorMittal (down 14% for an 18% weighting in the 

index). Luxempart benefited from the strong share price 

performance of SES, RTL Group (up 23%), and Foyer S.A. 

(up 48%).

Luxempart’s dividend has seen a compound annual growth 

rate of 10% since 2003. For the 2013 financial year, the 

Board of Directors proposed a gross dividend of  0.9077 

per share, i.e. a 10% increase on the previous financial 

year’s dividend.

Since 2003, Luxempart’s share price has shown a 

compound annual growth rate of 11% (11% for net 

assets). During 2013, Luxempart’s net asset value (NAV) 

increased by 16%. At end-March 2014, the Company’s 

share price showed a discount of approximately 35% in 

relation to its NAV. From 1 January 2014 to end-March 

2014, NAV increased by 8%, while the share price rose 

by 10% in the same period.

Performance

Performance

Performance

of Luxempart’s share price  
and net asset value

of Luxempart’s share price  
from January 2013  
to end-March 2014 vs. Lux X

of Luxempart’s dividend
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% in Company  
capital

SUPPORTIVE INVESTMENTS

SES 2.1%

RTL Group 0.4%

Atenor 10.5%

Foyer Finance 18.2%

Foyer S.A. 6.1%

SEO (ord + 1/5) 5.4%

Direct Energie 10.0%

Pescanova 5.8% 

PRIVATE EQUITY

Indufin Capital Partners -
ICP Sicar 50.0%

Mirato 15.8%

Quip 51.0%

DS Care 45.0%

Ekkio Capital nc

Thrombogenics 0.3%

IP Santé domicile nc

O3b nc

Private equity funds nc

Portfolio breakdown at 31/03/2014
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Message to shareholders

Dear shareholders,

Let me begin by summarising the environment in 2013:

It was quite a year for the stock markets. Growth in the United States turned promising again, at 2-3%, and investments 
kept pace. In Europe, growth was weaker in peripheral countries and France, while Germany’s health was sound. 
Emerging countries experienced significant devaluations. The engine that is China has slowed somewhat, but its global 
importance remains unambiguous.

The central banks were very proactive, and a recovery would have been impossible without them. The U.S. Federal 
Reserve slowed the pace of its bonds purchase plan, taking into account inflation and deflation risks, as well as 
employment trends.

In conclusion, the economy is slowly emerging from five years of crisis.

The Company’s annual meeting is intended to give you insight into the Company’s condition:

You are quite naturally focused on share price and share performance, as well as on the outlook for the future.

From its founding in 1988 to the present day, the Company, originally called BIL-Participations and renamed Luxempart 
in 1992, has issued its shares at LUF 1,200 =  30. At one point, the stock underwent a split in which each existing 
share was sub-divided into ten new shares. This means, for the purposes of a meaningful comparison, that the share 
was issued at an initial price of  3 and the current price (early April 2014) is around  30. The share price performance 
may not be miraculous, but it is certainly that of a conservative investor, particularly in light of the global crisis and the 
collapse in a number of share prices, including those of bank stocks.

For around twenty years, the Company has experienced an annual internal rate of return (IRR) of more than 15% while 
offering shareholders a dividend with annual growth of 10%.

Luxempart seeks not only to pay a dividend, but also to generate capital gains on its investments. Consequently, when 
the banking crisis erupted, Luxempart sold all its bank participations. It successfully divested its investments in Cegedel, 
Utopia and Paul Würth.

SES, Foyer and RTL Group are some of its major long-term supportive investments. The decision was made to slightly 
reduce the Company’s participation in SES for portfolio weighting reasons. RTL Group’s performance earned Luxempart a 
capital gain (share price increase), as well as a handsome dividend. The Company decided to sell half of its participation 
in RTL Group, reducing it from 0.8% to 0.4% and realising a capital gain of  27.35 million.

We remain long-standing shareholders of SES and RTL Group.

Total investments made by the Luxempart Group in 2013 amounted to approximately  90 million and divestments 
came to approximately  120 million.
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Geographic diversification strategy

Economic development in Luxembourg is such that Luxempart is pursuing a geographically diversified investment 
policy. It opened an office in Düsseldorf (Algebra G.m.b.H.) for its activities in Germany, and is moving ahead with its 
operations in Belgium, France, and Italy. Luxempart relies on local management teams and on its recently established 
networks of contacts. In France, Luxempart has invested in funds, together with French institutional shareholders. In 
Italy, it has established a partnership with a local team seeking investment opportunities in northern Italy and helping 
us monitor our two current investments. Managers in Luxembourg work closely with the local management teams.

2013 profit and dividend

Total comprehensive income, which includes fair value adjustments of the portfolio, increased from  51.31 million 
at end-2012 to  141.43 million at 31 December 2013. Consolidated net profit increased from  28.30 million in 
2012 to  92.61 million in 2013.

The NAV per share was  43.33 as at 31 December 2013 versus  37.40 as at 31 December 2012.

On 20 March 2014, net asset value per Luxempart share was  45.94, which represents 6% growth between end-
December 2013 and 20 March 2014.

The Board of Directors will propose to the Annual General Meeting the payment of a gross dividend of  0.9077 
( 0.7715 net). This represents a 10% increase on the 2012 dividend.

Outlook

Luxempart’s ample cash position should enable it to make suitable recurring-revenue investments. It nevertheless 
remains selective and cautious when presented with opportunities. Luxempart intends to continue its efforts to diversify 
by developing local networks in select regions (Belgium, Germany, France, and northern Italy) and by strengthening 
its teams of employees.

We would like to thank all our shareholders for their continued support, and to emphasise that the dedication and 
achievements of our employees have contributed greatly to Luxempart’s results.

Our deepest thanks to everyone.

 François Tesch Gaston Schwertzer
 Managing Director Chairman
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Luxempart is a holding company listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. It manages a portfolio of listed and non-
listed holdings mainly in Luxembourg, Belgium, France, Germany, and Italy.

Luxempart undertakes its profession as a professional shareholder around two separate focuses:

• On one hand, acquisition of supportive investments managed by a team geared towards creating long-term 
value and generating recurring revenues.

 Strengthened by the entrepreneurial family spirit of its main shareholders, Luxempart favours conservative invest-
ment selection and portfolio management.

 Luxempart undertakes its profession as an investor through active involvement in the strategic choices, major 
decisions and control procedures of investments, by sitting on boards and committees and thereby ensuring good 
corporate governance practices.

• On the other hand, the private equity activities entrusted to teams motivated by realising capital gains gen-
erated by disposals in the short or medium term.

 These private equity activities are led by dedicated teams of professionals based in Luxembourg, Belgium, France, 
Germany, and Italy.

Since its creation, through its active management, Luxempart has successfully continued to develop its portfolio and 
pursued its policy of value creation for its shareholders.

1. Operations and highlights of the year

2. Consolidated profits

3. Estimated net assets

4. Own shares

5. Significant events after the closing date of the annual accounts

6. Group financial policy

7. Research and development

8. Outlook

9. Legal notice

Management report on the consolidated accounts
at 31 December 2013
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1. Operations and highlights of the financial year 

The 2013 financial year was marked by the following events:

Acquisitions: 

MIRATO

Luxempart acquired 16% of Mirato, one of the Italian leaders in the manufacture, production, and distribution of 
cosmetics. This acquisition of a minority participation is managed by a local team with which Luxempart has established 
a partnership for the management of DS Care (operator of retirement homes in Lombardy) and for the pursuit of new 
investment opportunities in northern Italy.

EKKIO CAPITAL (EX ACTO CAPITAL)

Luxempart and FASO (Five Arrows Secondary Opportunities), a Rothschild group fund, acquired, on a fifty-fifty basis, 
a majority participation in the venture capital funds (FCPR) Ekkio Capital I and Ekkio Capital II. These FCPRs consist of 
a dozen investments in a unit amount of  5-15 million and continue to be managed by the original management 
team, which has been merged into a new management company named Ekkio Capital.

Luxempart is currently the sponsor of the third fund (“Ekkio Capital III”) alongside LGT Group and OFI Asset Management. 
This fund invests in the management team’s sectors of choice, namely health, tourism and recreation, green business 
(energy efficiency, etc.) and ITC (Inspection, Testing, Certification).

OCTOPODE

Luxempart acquired a minority stake in Octopode, a company mainly active in the distribution and online marketing 
of outdoor vacation rental sites.

It sold this investment to the Ekkio Capital III fund in the second half of 2013. 

STOLL

In partnership with a German family, Luxempart acquired a minority participation in Stoll, a German manufacturer of 
front loaders for farm machinery.

DIRECT ENERGIE (EX POWEO)

Luxempart added to its holdings in Direct Energie and now owns approximately 10% of the group created by the 
merger of Poweo and Direct Energie.

OTHER OPERATIONS

In December 2013, Indufin Capital Partners Sicar acquired a majority participation in Euphaco (ABC Chemical), a 
company that supplies ingredients for use in compounded pharmaceutical products.

Luxempart slightly increased its participations in Quip, Atenor and Foyer. 

Disposals:

RTL Group

Luxempart sold half of its participation in RTL Group, reducing it from 0.8% to 0.4%, and realised a capital gain of 
 27.35 million.
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PESCANOVA

In March 2013, Luxempart reduced its position in Pescanova convertible bonds from  17 million to   12 million. 

As at 31 December 2013, this position was valued at  1.9 million.

PNE WIND

In July 2013, Luxempart sold its bonds in PNE Wind and realised a capital gain of approximately  3 million. Including 
interest and other income, the investment in PNE Wind generated an overall profit of  6 million.

SES

Luxempart also slightly reduced its participation in SES for portfolio weighting reasons. 

PRIVATE EQUITY

IEE: In May 2013, Luxempart sold its participation in IEE and realised an additional capital gain of  1.6 million, bringing 
the total capital gain on Luxempart’s investments in IEE to  5.6 million.

HerbalGem: In December 2013, Indufin Capital Partners Sicar sold its participation in HerbalGem and realised a 
capital gain of   6.8 million.

2. Consolidated profits

The profits are as follows:

(in E) 2013 2012

Recurring profit 31,577,375 24,700,289

Profit from non-current and current financial assets  
(capital gains on investments) 60,344,527 -1,796,057

Taxes -320,813 -298,363

Share of profit from associates 1,013,059 4,221,264

Share of profit from non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations - 1,476,588

Consolidated net profit 92,614,148 28,303,721

Owners of the Company (Group share) 89,996,341 28,320,452

Non-controlling interest (minority share) 2,617,807 -16,730

Revaluation of non-current financial assets
(change in unrealised capital gains or losses) 48,823,872 23,009,811

Total consolidated comprehensive income 
(including changes in portfolio value) 141,438,020 51,313,533

Luxempart closed financial year 2013 with consolidated profit of  92.61 million versus  28.30 million in 2012.
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Consolidated profit as at 31 December 2013 mainly includes:

• higher recurring profit,

• capital gains on the disposal of RTL and SES securities and on the disposal of the IEE and PNE Wind holdings, and

• value adjustments on the Pescanova and O3b positions.

The consolidated comprehensive income increased from  51.31 million at the end of 2012 to  141.44 million at 
the end of 2013 thanks to the capital gains realised on disposals and the good performance of our main holdings.

2.1. Recurring profit

Recurring profit breaks down as follows:

(in E) 2013 2012

• Financial profit 37,905,329 29,495,452

• Services/recovery of services 1,871,624 572,657

• Other operating expenses -5,900,912 -3,008,191

• Staff costs -2,298,666 -2,359,629

Recurring profit 31,577,375 24,700,289

Recurring profit amounts to  31.58 million as at 31 December 2013 ( 24.70 million as at 31 December 2012).

Recurring profit is made up of the following items:

Financial profit mainly includes dividends from holdings in SES, Foyer Finance, Foyer, RTL Group, and Atenor and 
similar income made up of bank interest.

The item Services/recovery of services includes profit shares and fees received from companies in the portfolio.

Other operating expenses are made up of expert fees associated with investment project analyses, rental expenses, 
and value adjustments on tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets, and current assets.

The staff costs of the Group’s employees.



8 Luxempart S.A. Annual Report 2013

2.2. Capital gains on investment

Capital gains on investment break down as follows:

(in E) 2013 2012

• Realised gains and losses on disposals 39,001,070 47,372,994

• Unrealised gains and losses 21,343,457 -49,169,051

Capital gains on investment 60,344,527 -1,796,057

Capital gains on investment total  60.35 million as at 31 December 2013 versus -  1.80 million as at 31 December 2012. 

Capital gains on investment are made up of the following items:

Realised gains and losses on disposals: in 2013, these were mainly gains on disposals of RTL Group, PNE Wind, 
IEE and SES participations.

Unrealised gains or losses: in 2013, this item mainly included value adjustments on Pescanova and O3b for a total of 
around  4 million, as well as revaluations on the private equity activities in France for a total of around  24 million.

2.3. Share of profit of associates

This item includes the share in the profits of the Quip Holding, DS Care, Ekkio Capital, Stoll, Indufin S.A., and Indufin 
Capital Partners Sicar S.A. groups, as well as the fluctuation in the fair value of affiliated undertakings of the subsidiary 
Indufin Capital Partners.

3. Estimated net assets

The NAV represents the portfolio’s estimated value, plus current assets, minus liabilities towards third parties. The 
portfolio’s estimated value is determined based on the share price for listed securities and, for non-listed securities, 
based on a valuation by Luxempart in order to determine the market value by applying, where appropriate, discounts 
for illiquidity or particular risks.

The NAV per Luxempart share, including own shares, was  42.36 as at 31 December 2013 versus  36.88 as at 
31 December 2012.

The NAV per Luxempart share, excluding own shares, was  43.33 as at 31 December 2013 versus  37.40 as at 
31 December 2012, i.e. 15.9% growth.

As at 20 March 2014, the NAV per Luxempart share, excluding own shares, was €45.94, which represents 6% growth 
between 31 December 2013 and 20 March 2014.
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On 20 March 2014, the NAV totals  1,032 million, broken down as follows:

Trading and other assets  59 million / 6%

Cash  331 million / 32%

Private equity and Funds  149 million / 14%

Supportive investments  493 million / 48%

4. Own shares

As at 31 December 2013, the Company holds 1,497,220 own shares (6.3% of capital) for an acquisition value of 
 31.65 million.

5. Significant events after the closing date of the annual accounts

PESCANOVA 

Luxempart is part of the consortium led by the Spanish industrial group Damm. This consortium submitted a restructuring 
and refinancing plan to Pescanova’s Board of Directors for a total of  150 million, to be funded by creditors, existing 
shareholders and the consortium.

This plan was unanimously approved by Pescanova’s Board of Directors at its meeting of 14 March 2014 and was 
submitted to the Commercial Court judge overseeing the court-supervised reorganisation. This plan will still have to 
be approved by the Company’s creditors and existing shareholders in order to take effect.

If this plan is adopted, it could represent an additional investment for Luxempart of  15-25 million in the form of a 
capital increase and, predominantly, of senior debt.

SES

Luxempart took advantage of the positive trend in SES’s share price to reduce the share’s weighting in its portfolio. 
The weighting of the SES participation was therefore reduced to around 20% of Luxempart’s estimated net assets.



10 Luxempart S.A. Annual Report 2013

6. Group financial policy

In 2014, developed economies are continuing their slow and fragile recovery from the economic crisis. With support 
from the European Central Bank’s highly accommodative monetary policy, the Eurozone is therefore expected to return 
to growth in 2014.

The Luxempart Group’s major risk is the exposure of its financial assets to market risk. The policy for managing this risk 
is established and controlled by the Group Executive Committee, the Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee.

Investments in listed companies represent 47% as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 54%) of the Group’s net assets.

The Group’s investments are mainly in companies listed on the stock exchange (Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Brussels 
Stock Exchange, and Paris Stock Exchange). The table below presents the investment by asset class based on the total 
financial assets.

2013 2012

Investment in listed companies 69.3% 80.1%

Investment in private equity 29.3% 18.2%

Investment in private equity funds 1.4% 1.7%

Total portfolio 100.0% 100.0%

Management of market risk

Market risk applies to the loss in value of assets invested through the stock exchange in equity or mutual fund units. 
These securities are listed on the stock exchange and are thus subject to the variations and risks inherent in the financial 
markets. It is possible that at a given moment, the value of all or some of these securities will be less than the most 
recently established book value.

A range of variation of +10% to -10% was applied to the valuation as at 31 December 2013. This variant influences the 
consolidated reserves and statement of profit or loss. This risk variable is relevant and reasonably possible. Luxempart 
has a long-term view of its investments and therefore does not systematically withdraw from its investments based 
on price volatility. Nevertheless, Luxempart S.A. monitors changes in the prices of its listed holdings on a daily basis.

Management of interest rate risk

Management of interest rate risk involves hedging (fully or partially) the fluctuation of interest rates on debt with a 
fixed interest rate according to its own policy adopted by the Board of Directors of each entity based on its needs.

In 2013, the average duration of the placement of fixed-term deposits was 30 days, and the average rate was 0.29%.

Management of foreign exchange risk

The Group invests mainly in positions in the Group’s functional currency (EUR). There is no significant exposure to 
foreign exchange risk.
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Management of credit risk

Credit risk involves the risk that contracted third parties will not meet their commitments towards the Group during 
transactions with it.

Credit risk lies not at the Luxempart level but with the investments, which are responsible for managing their credit 
risk according to the specific terms appropriate for their situation.

Management of liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2013, Luxempart has no financial debts and has a high level of liquidity. The liquidity default risk 
is low.

7. Research and development

Luxempart has no activity in the field of research and development.

8. Outlook

Luxempart’s main investments have announced the payment of an increased dividend compared to the previous financial 
year. However, in light of the RTL Group and SES disposals in particular, Luxempart’s recurring profit will decrease while 
capital gains on investment will benefit from the disposal of the SES securities in early 2014.

Luxempart maintains the right to buy back own shares on the Luxembourg regulated market. The total number of 
shares bought back per financial year should not exceed 100,000.

9. Legal notice

Responsibility of the Board of Directors

The responsibility of the Board of Directors is determined by law. As such, it is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual accounts in accordance with the European directives transposed into Luxembourg law. The 
Board considers that it has fully complied with these obligations.

Declaration by responsible persons

In accordance with the law of 11 January 2008 relating to transparency obligations regarding information about issuers 
whose securities are admitted for trading on a regulated market, we declare that to our knowledge, the financial 
statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, provide a true and fair view of the assets 
and liabilities, financial position, and profits and losses of the Company and that the management report faithfully 
presents the growth, profits, and position of the Company.
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Law of 19 December 2002

The information required by the article 68bis of the law of 19 December 2002 (as amended), is found in the Corporate 
Governance Charter, a version of which is available on the Company’s website: www.luxempart.lu.

Information in application of the law of 19 May 2006 regarding takeover bids

Luxempart S.A.’s share capital amounts to  59,887,710 represented by 23,955,084 fully paid-up common shares 
without any designation of a nominal value. There are no other share categories or options or pre-emptive rights 
entitling holders to the issuance of shares of another category that could have a dilutive effect on the number of 
shares issued. The issued shares all benefit from the same rights both with regard to their right to vote at ordinary and 
extraordinary general meetings and the dividend voted on by shareholders at general meetings. Note that there are no 
restrictions on the transfer of securities or special control rights for certain holders of these securities. No agreement 
between shareholders able to lead to restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights has been entered into.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Foyer Finance S.A., a financial holding company 
not listed on the stock exchange, which constitutes the largest group of companies to which the Company belongs, 
holds 10,434,240 shares of the Company out of a total of 23,955,084 issued shares, i.e. 43.6%.

Within Luxempart S.A., there is a Stock Option Plan implemented for members of the Group Executive Committee. 
Each year, the Company freely decides whether there is cause to allocate option rights or not. The granting of options 
is subject to a flat-rate entry taxation model. Option rights, where applicable, are allocated annually based on the 
length of service and the achievement of performance objectives of each person. The option right is subject to a lock-
in period of three years and must be exercised within a period of ten years from the granting of the option right. The 
Stock Option Plan of members of the Group Executive Committee is supplied with own shares held in the portfolio in 
such a way that there is no creation of new dilutive shares for shareholders.

Members of Luxempart S.A.’s Board of Directors are appointed by the Annual General Meeting upon recommendation 
by the Board and after receiving the opinion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. They are appointed 
for a maximum term of six years. Normally, the mandate of Luxempart S.A.’s directors lasts three years, and the expiry 
dates are spread out so that one third of the mandates are renewed each year. Their mandate is renewable. In principle, 
the mandate as director ends at the close of the Annual General Meeting that chooses the replacement.

The Annual General Meeting may revoke the Directors at any time.

In the event that the office of a director is vacant, the Board of Directors may choose a replacement in compliance 
with the rules governing the appointment of directors. At the next Annual General Meeting, the shareholders decide 
on the final appointment, in principle for the remaining period of the mandate of the replaced director.
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The Board of Directors, a body responsible for Luxempart S.A.’s management, has decision-making powers on all 
matters and can undertake all activities necessary or useful for meeting the Company’s corporate purpose, with the 
exception of powers that the law or the Articles of Association grant expressly to the Annual General Meeting. The 
responsibility of this body is to ensure the long-term success of the Company and its business activities, in the interest 
of the shareholders and by considering the interests of other stakeholders of the community in which the Company 
operates. The primary responsibility of the Board of Directors lies in the strategic management of the Company and 
the control over its business activities.

An Extraordinary General Meeting must be convened to deliberate on any modification of the Articles of Association 
as well as any increase or decrease in the share capital, unless the shareholders previously authorised the Board to 
increase the share capital under specific conditions, which is the case for Luxempart S.A., whose authorised capital 
amounts to  90,000,000. Following a decision taken by the Extraordinary General Meeting of 30 April 2012, the 
Board of Directors is authorised to carry out, under the conditions stipulated by article 5 of the Articles of Association, 
one or more capital increases in order to bring it up to  90,000,000; this authorisation expires on 30 April 2017.

Also note that there is no agreement to which Luxempart S.A. would be party that would be substantially amended 
or even terminated in the event that a takeover bid is implemented. Similarly, no agreement has been entered into 
between the Company and the members of its Board of Directors or its personnel providing for compensation in 
case of resignation, dismissal without valid reason, or if their employment was terminated because of a takeover bid.

 Alain HUBERTY François TESCH
 Director Managing Director

 Leudelange, 26 March 2014
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Standing:

Frank WAGENER, Jacquot SCHWERTZER (member of the Group  
Executive Committee), Pierre DRION, Alain HUBERTY, François GILLET, 
Ernst-Wilhelm CONTZEN, Jo SANTINO 

Seated:

Michèle DETAILLE, François TESCH, Gaston SCHWERTZER,  
Pascale FINCK (secretary), André ELVINGER
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Corporate governance

INTRODUCTION

The Luxempart Corporate Governance Charter, which takes due consideration of the Corporate Governance Code as 
published by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, is based around the following areas:

• The structure and organisation of Luxempart, describing the configuration of its various investment sectors and 
the organisation of Company management

• The description of Luxempart’s share capital, the shareholding structure and the liquidity of shares

• The role and operation of the Annual General Meeting and the Shareholder Information Policy

• The role, constitution, chairmanship and operation of the Board of Directors

• The delegation of daily management

• The Specialist Committees comprising the Board of Directors, in particular the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, their respective roles, constitution and operation

• The role and constitution of the Group Executive Committee, the responsibilities of the Managing Director and 
other members of the Group Executive Committee

• External audit of Luxempart

The charter additionally includes the following:

• A definition of the criteria for Director independence

• A definition of the competency profile of the Board of Directors

• Prevention measures for insider trading or stock market manipulation

• The remuneration policy for Directors and members of the Group Executive Committee

On 30 April 2007, the Company undertook a complete rewriting of its Articles of Association in order to include the 
principles of corporate governance. The Articles of Association were amended again later.

The coordinated Articles of Association are available at www.luxempart.lu.

The Board of Directors of Luxempart is composed of ten members, three of whom are independent directors who meet 
all the independence criteria included in the Ten Principles of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDING

Luxempart’s shareholding is constituted as follows:

Stake in share capital (as %) as at 31/12/2013

Foyer Finance 43.5

BIL Group 10.0

Sofina Group 5.2

Own shares 6.3

Public and institutional 35.0

Total 100.0

In 2007, Luxempart signed a liquidity agreement with Banque Degroof in order to promote the liquidity of its shares.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role

The Board of Directors is the body responsible for the management of Luxempart.

The Board of Directors is a collegial body holding decision-making powers on all matters and can undertake all 
activities necessary or useful for meeting the Company’s corporate purpose, with the exception of powers that the 
law or the Articles of Association grant expressly to the Annual General Meeting. The responsibility of this body is to 
ensure the sustainable development of the Company and its business activities, in the best interest of all shareholders 
and by considering the interests of other stakeholders, such as creditors, employees and the community in which the 
Company operates.

The primary responsibility of the Board of Directors lies in the strategic management of the Company and the control 
over its business activities.

Composition

Luxempart is administered by a Board of Directors (a one-tier management structure) made up of 10 members who 
are physical persons. The directors are appointed by the Annual General Meeting upon recommendation by the Board 
of Directors after receiving the opinion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The majority of members are non-executive directors. The Board of Directors includes at least two independent directors.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is chosen from among the non-executive members of the Board of Directors. 
The current Chairman of the Board of Directors, Gaston Schwertzer, does not hold any executive function at Luxempart. 
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The mandates of certain directors are renewed during the Annual General Meeting in 2014. 

As at 31 December 2013, the Board of Directors of Luxempart was composed of 10 members:

• 3 executive directors

• 7 non-executive directors, including 3 independent directors

Gaston Schwertzer

Chairman of the Board of Directors and non-executive director

• Industrialist

• Born in 1932

Gaston Schwertzer holds a Doctorate in Law since 1955 (Luxembourg Bar - three years).

Gaston Schwertzer worked independently in the gas industry for 34 years. For a period of 20 years, he was Chairman 
of the Luxembourg section of the Association Professionnelle des Gaz de Pétrole and Vice-Chairman of the Belgian-
Luxembourg “Februpo” association. He established and directed the companies Probutan-Gas, Compagnie Générale 
des Gaz Liquéfiés, the Presta-Gaz gas canister packaging factory (Kleinbettingen), the maritime gas supply and storage 
centre via the Willebroek Canal in Grimbergen, Belgium, and the drumming plant at Ans/Liège, Belgium.

In conjunction with his industrial business activities, Gaston Schwertzer established and managed several real estate 
complexes in Luxembourg.

Gaston Schwertzer was Vice-Chairman of Cegedel and director of SES for 12 years, director of CLT, Audiofina, which 
subsequently became the RTL Group, and director of Paul Wurth. He is Chairman of the Sichel and Presta-Gaz Groups.

Gaston Schwertzer co-founded BIL Participations in 1988, which became Luxempart in 1992, occupying the role of 
Managing Director between 1993 and 2002, and since then has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors. He was 
also a director of the listed companies Société Electrique de l’Our (SEO), Audiolux, and Dexia Group. Gaston Schwertzer 
is honorary Vice-Chairman of BIL and was on the bank’s Board for 27 years. He is a director of Foyer Finance and, until 
2012, the Luxembourg structures of the Wendel Group. Outside of his industrial activities, he was elected Director of 
the Fondation Indépendance which promotes arts and culture.

Frank Wagener

Non-Executive Director and Vice-Chairman

• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Internationale à Luxembourg (BIL)

• Born in 1952

Frank Wagener has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Internationale à Luxembourg (BIL) since 
2011. After university studies in law in Liège, he began his career at the bank in 1978 and became a member of the 
Management Committee in 1993 and Managing Director in 2006.

In addition, he is Chairman of the Board of Directors of the following companies:

• Luxembourg Stock Exchange
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• Fondation François Elisabeth (consortium of clinics and hospitals)

• Yapital S.A.

He is Vice-Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce and Luxempart as well as a member of the Board of Directors of 
Clearstream, Saint-Paul, Hunter Douglas N.V., and others.

He is an alumnus of Harvard Business School. 

François Tesch

Managing Director, Executive Director, and Chairman of the Group Executive Committee

• Born in 1951

François Tesch holds a first degree in Economic Science as well as an MBA from INSEAD.

After working as a financial analyst at W.R. Grace & Co in New York and as CFO at W.R. Grace & Co in Paris, François 
Tesch joined the Foyer insurance group in 1983 as General Secretary. Since 1985, he has held the position of Director 
General (now Chief Executive Officer).

François Tesch is a Board member of the following listed companies: Foyer S.A., SES, Atenor Group, Financière de 
Tubize and Pescanova Grupo.

Ernst Wilhelm Contzen

Independent Non-Executive Director

• Managing Director of Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

• Born in 1948

Ernst Wilhelm Contzen holds a degree in law.

He began his career at Deutsche Bank AG in 1978. Within the Deutsche Bank group, he has held various positions in 
Munster, Paris, Gottingen, Brussels, Frankfurt and Bremen.

From 1 July 1998 until 31 December 2013, he was Managing Director, Country Head and member of the Board of 
Directors of Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. On 1 January 2014, he joined the new Supervisory Board of Deutsche 
Bank Luxembourg S.A.

On 30 April 2010, he became Chairman of the Luxembourg Bankers’ Association, the ABBL.

On 1 March 2014, he joined the Board of Directors of KBL epb as Chairman.

Michèle Detaille 

Independent non-executive director 

Entrepreneur (ALIPA Group)

• Born in 1957
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Holds a degree in political science.

She began her career as a political adviser to the chairman of the Liberal Party. In 1983, she was Belgium’s youngest 
magistrate before sitting as deputy from 1985 to 1987.

In 1988, she moved to the private sector and became Commercial Director of Accor Services for Benelux. Starting 
from 1996, with a partner, she took over various SMEs in Luxembourg, Belgium, and France to establish a small group 
active in industrial lifting and packaging.

In 2005, she was the first woman elected director of the Fedil (Luxembourg Business Federation). The same year, she 
became a member of the Board of Directors of Université Catholique de Louvain.

Since 2009, she has been a Regent of the National Bank of Belgium, where she served as Non-Voting Member from 
2005 to 2009. 

Pierre Drion

Independent Non-Executive Director

• Born in 1942

At the age of 30, Pierre Drion became manager of Petercam and, during its establishment as a public company, went 
on to become Managing Director. To date, he continues to advise S.A. Petercam.

He is also Chairman of Fondation ULB (Belgian public-law institution intended to fund research within Université Libre 
de Bruxelles).

André Elvinger

Non-Executive Director

• Lawyer

• Born in 1929

André Elvinger has been a lawyer on the Luxembourg Bar since 1953 and held the position of President of the Bar in 
1986 and 1987. He is a partner in the firm of Elvinger, Hoss & Prussen.

He is Chairman of the Board of Directors of Foyer Finance.

André Elvinger is a member of the Luxembourg Haut Comité de la Place Financière. He is honorary Chairman of the 
Association Luxembourgeoise d’Etudes Fiscales and of the Luxembourg branch of the International Fiscal Association.

François Gillet

Non-Executive Director

• Company Director

• Born in 1960

François Gillet is an IAG Management and Commercial Engineer.

He joined the Union Minière in 1984 where he was assistant to the Financial Director, responsible for the financial 
aspects relating to acquisitions, strategic planning and particular projects.
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In 1988, he joined the Belgian financial holding company Sofina where he is currently member of the Group Executive 
Committee and Chief Investment Officer and, in this respect, is involved in the Group’s global management.

As a Director, he is responsible for monitoring a number of investment projects including, for example, the listed 
companies Colruyt, Deceuninck, Exmar and Luxempart.

He is also an independent director in a private capacity of listed company Emakina.

In addition to his training at IAG, during which he took part in the international exchange programme with the University 
of Western Ontario (Canada), he completed the Cepac (ULB) programme and the Advanced Management Program 
(INSEAD) as well as a fiscal training programme at the Ecole de Commerce de Saint-Louis.

Alain Huberty

Executive Director and member of the Group Executive Committee

• Born in 1967

Alain Huberty holds a Master’s degree in Business Law from the Aix-en-Provence Faculty of Law and is also a graduate 
of the London School of Economics (LLM). Alain Huberty also completed a training programme at INSEAD.

Prior to joining Luxempart, he was registered with the Luxembourg Bar as a Barrister and subsequently worked in the 
legal departments of two major Luxembourg companies.

Alain Huberty serves as CFO and is responsible for several of the Group’s holdings. 

Jo Santino

Executive Director and member of the Group Executive Committee

• Born in 1957

Jo Santino received a degree in business administration from the University of Liège. He began his career at Arthur 
Andersen and has worked in Brussels, Milan, and Luxembourg as an audit manager and auditor.

He joined the Cobepa group in 1987 and, in 1994, became Managing Director of Mosane, a listed company and 
subsidiary of Cobepa. Jo Santino was also a member of the Cobepa Managing Committee. In 2001, he formed the 
company Indufin, an investment company subsidiary of Luxempart specialising in development capital and buyouts. Jo 
Santino is currently a director and member of Luxempart’s Group Executive Committee. He is responsible for private 
equity activities.

In addition, Jo Santino is Director of the Union Wallonne des Entreprises.

2014 Proposal

The terms of office of directors Ernst-Wilhelm Contzen, Frank Wagener and Jo Santino end in 2014. It is proposed 
during the General Meeting of 28 April 2014 to:

• extend their mandate for three years until the Ordinary General Meeting to be held in 2017 

It is also proposed to:

• appoint John Penning to replace Alain Huberty for a two-year term until the Annual General Meeting to be held 
in 2016 and to appoint Alain Huberty as General Secretary
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Matters for deliberation

The main matters for discussion and/or deliberation by the Board of Directors in 2013 were as follows:

• Review of annual accounts and consolidated financial statements for the 2012 financial year, in addition to the 
2013 half-yearly report and approval of corresponding press releases

• Preparation for the Annual and Extraordinary General Meeting held on 29 April 2013

• Review of the conclusions and recommendations outlined by the specialised sub-committees

• Portfolio valuation

• Decisions relating to investment and divestments

• Strategic consideration of the direction of Luxempart’s investment policy

• Development strategy and establishment of a new organisational chart

• Follow-up on Pescanova 

• 2014 budget

• Cash management

Frequency of meetings and participation

The Board met six times during the past financial year. In accordance with article 16 of the Articles of Association, 
decisions were unanimously expressed in writing in place of a meeting.

The average attendance rate of Directors at Board of Directors meetings for the previous financial year was 93%.

Remuneration

In 2013, directors were remunerated for their duties as follows:

• With an annual gross base compensation, where appropriate on a pro rata basis

• The total amount of annual gross base compensation allocated to all Directors amounted to €320,000

• By directors’ fees, paid for each meeting attended by a director

• The total amount of attendance fees allocated to all Directors amounted to €155,000

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In particular areas, the Board of Directors may be assisted, on a consulting basis, by specialised sub-committees which 
it establishes and determines their role, responsibilities, composition, and operation.

The competencies of such Committees extend to all companies within the scope of the Luxempart Group.
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· AUDIT COMMITTEE

Role

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors of Luxempart, in addition to the Boards of Directors of the other 
companies within the scope of the Luxempart Group, in their duties of supervising financial reporting procedures, 
internal and external audit procedures, and internal control procedures.

Composition

Mr Ernst Wilhelm Contzen, Chairman of the Audit Committee, Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms Michèle Detaille, Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Frank Wagener, Non-Executive Director

Mr François Gillet, Non-Executive Director

The secretariat of the Committee is assumed by a Luxempart employee.

Activity report

 Matters for deliberation

• Review of the annual results for 2012 and consolidated half-year results for 2013, notes to the accounts, and 
the corresponding management reports

• Review of draft press releases

• Internal auditing programme

• Portfolio valuation

• External review of the accounts

• Discussion of changes in IFRS standards

• Monitoring of 2012 internal audit recommendations

• 2014 budget

 Frequency of meetings 

 The Audit Committee met on three occasions in 2013.

Remuneration

Members of the Audit Committee are entitled to receive an attendance fee for each Committee meeting attended.

The total gross amount of attendance fees allocated in 2013 to all members of the Audit Committee amounted to 
 35,000.
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· NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Role

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board of Directors on all matters relating to the appointment 
(or removal) of directors and members of the Group Executive Committee.

Composition

Mr André Elvinger, Committee Chairman, Non-Executive Director

Mr Frank Wagener, Non-Executive Director

Mr Pierre Drion, Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr François Tesch, Executive Director *

Mr Gaston Schwertzer, Chairman of the Board of Directors *

The Secretariat of the Committee is assumed by Mr Benoît Dourte, Director of Human Resources of the Foyer group.

Activity report

 Matters for deliberation

• Review of Group Executive Committee member salaries

• Setting of bonuses for Group Executive Committee members for 2013

• Proposal for the allocation of stock options to Group Executive Committee members within the framework of 
the Stock Option Plan

• Establishment of a new organisational chart

 Frequency of meetings 

During the 2013 financial year, the Committee met on two occasions.

Remuneration

The total gross amount of attendance fees allocated in 2013 to all non-executive members of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee amounted to  20,000.

· GROUP EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The role of the Group Executive Committee consists of ensuring:

• The daily management of Luxempart and its subsidiaries 

• Implementation and monitoring of the strategy set by the Board of Directors

• Important decisions relating to the monitoring of holdings

• Examination of investment and divestment projects

* Mr F. Tesch and Mr G. Schwertzer are members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee only for questions relating to the 
appointment or removal of directors or members of the Group Executive Committee.



27Annual Report 2013   Luxempart S.A.

• Any decision relating to investment and divestments up to  15,000,000

• Proposal to the Board of Directors of investments and divestments beyond  15,000,000

• Decision beyond  15,000,000 with prior approval of the Chairman, in accordance with Luxempart’s procedures 
in case of emergency

The Board of Directors has delegated the daily management of Luxempart as well as Company representation for this 
management to the Managing Director.

The Managing Director is assisted in his duties by the Group Executive Committee.

Composition

The Group Executive Committee is currently composed as follows:

Mr François Tesch, CEO, Managing Director, Chairman

Mr Jo Santino, Member

Mr Alain Huberty, CFO, Member 

Mr Jacquot Schwertzer, Member

Activity report

 Matters for deliberation

 During the 2013 financial year, the Group Executive Committee gave particular attention to the following issues:

• Regular monitoring of portfolio companies

• Analysing investment and divestment opportunities

• 2014 budget

• Preparing financial tables and reports

• Optimal cash management

• Preparing press releases and Management statements

• Discussing Luxempart Group strategy

• Establishing a new organisational chart

• Preparing Group Board of Directors meetings

• Preparing General Meetings for Group companies

• Relationship with the supervisory authorities 

 Frequency of meetings 

 The Group Executive Committee meets at least once every two weeks.
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Remuneration

The overall annual gross remuneration paid to Group Executive Committee members for 2013 amounted to  
 1,311,856, including  273,892 in variable remuneration. Some Group Executive Committee members also receive 
a supplementary pension plan which includes a retirement, death and disability guarantee. The premium paid for this 
plan in 2013 was  87,039.

LUXEMPART SHARE TRANSACTIONS

A statement concerning Luxempart share transactions undertaken by parties with executive responsibilities within the 
Luxempart Group and by parties with regular or occasional access to privileged information must be published on the 
Luxempart website.

Forty-eight statements were published for Luxempart in 2013 for the purchase of 70,611 shares.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

Description of the main characteristics of the internal control and risk management systems as part of the financial 
reporting process:

The Board of Directors monitors the existence and proper operation of internal control. In light of Luxempart’s size, 
no independent internal audit function is currently established within the Company. A business controller joined 
the Company in June 2013. The Audit Committee assesses the need to hire an external service provider for specific 
assignments.

Control environment

The control environment is a very important component of the Group’s culture, as it determines the extent to which 
personnel are aware of the need for control. It is the basis for all other elements of internal control. Factors having an 
impact on the control environment include:

• integrity

• ethics

• staff competence

• management philosophy

• management style

• delegation of responsibility policy

• organisational policy

• training policy

Risk management

A semi-annual assessment of the main risks is performed by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors.
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Market risk

Market risk applies to the loss in value of financial assets. The main risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed 
relate to the performance of the financial markets (stock markets, comparable transactions, market multiples, etc.). 
Luxempart does not systematically withdraw from its investments based on financial market volatility. In principle, the 
Group does not use market risk hedges. It nevertheless regularly monitors changes in the value of its investments. A 
sensitivity analysis of the invested assets is incorporated into Note 26 of the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

Management of interest rate risk involves potentially hedging (fully or partially) the fluctuation of interest rates on debt 
with a fixed interest rate according to its own policy adopted by the Board of Directors of each entity based on its needs.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group invests mainly in positions in the Group’s functional currency (). There is no significant exposure to foreign 
exchange risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk involves the risk that contracted third parties will not meet their commitments towards the Group during 
transactions with it.

Credit risk lies not at the Luxempart level but with the investments, which are responsible for managing their credit 
risk according to the specific terms appropriate for their situation.

Liquidity risk

Luxempart has no financial debts and has a high level of liquidity. The liquidity default risk is low. 

Risk related to accounting and preparation of financial statements

Luxempart has an accounting department that processes the accounting information received. The department works 
in such a way that if a person is absent, continuity of tasks is ensured. The specific process of the control and encoding 
of accounting documents is explained in an internal accounting procedure. A business controller joined the Company 
in June 2013.

Role of the Audit Committee and Board of Directors in preparing financial information and preventing risks

Luxempart has an Audit Committee that reviews the financial information, consolidation process, and valuation of 
Luxempart’s assets. The Audit Committee also examines the internal control system in relation to finances, accounting, 
legal matters, and compliance. The Committee also supervises the financial reporting process.

In this context, the Audit Committee ensures:

• The independence of its members

• The prior approval of the selection and remuneration of auditors
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• The obtaining of a statement of independence of the auditor once per year

• Proper communication between the auditor and the accounting department as well as the Company’s management

• Performance of specific internal audit assignments in addition to the work done by the controller

• Proper preparation of financial information

• Review and validation of financial information by the Company’s management

• Recommendations to the Board of Directors in the following areas:

• Closing of the accounts, management reports, and press releases containing financial information

• Identification of main risks, their prevention, and establishment of related processes within the entire Company

• Adoption of accounting procedures

• Adoption of rules to prevent insider trading and market manipulation

During each Board of Directors meeting, the chairman of the Audit Committee reports on his or her work, makes 
concrete recommendations to the Board of Directors on the aforementioned points, and ensures their implementation.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the annual and semi-annual financial information. 

Risk related to non-compliance with regulations

Luxempart plays close attention to changes in and compliance with regulations. The handling of special operations is the 
subject of a special analysis, particularly with the consultation of the auditor or other specialised persons. All risks are 
reviewed on a semi-annual basis by the Group Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Board of Directors.

Risk related to information and communication

Luxempart has a stand-alone IT system with daily back-up of its data.

The publication of financial information is done according to the legal publication system followed and established 
by Luxempart’s management. The published periodic information is reviewed by the Group Executive Committee and 
the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

Reputational risk

Luxempart monitors compliance with the Company’s core values and with the rules of conduct.
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Activities

SES (Paris Euronext and Luxembourg Stock Exchange: SESG) is a global satellite operator with a fleet of 55 geostationary 
satellites. The company provides satellite communication services to television broadcasters, content and Internet service 
providers, fixed and mobile network operators, as well as companies and government organisations around the world. 
SES has holdings in Ciel in Canada, QuetzSat in Mexico and YahLive! in Abu Dhabi, as well as a strategic holding in 
the O3b Networks satellite infrastructure.

Key figures and highlights of the year

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Revenues 1,863 1,828 1.9%

EBITDA 1,365 1,347 0.7%

Net profit - Group share 567 648 -12.6%

 2013 2012 ∆

Gross dividend per share 1.07 0.97 10.3%

Share price per share 23.53 21.65 8.7%

SES generated revenue of  1,863 million in 2013, a 1.9% increase compared with the previous year.

The order book grew by 1% to  7.5 billion as at 31 December 2013.

From an operational point of view, 2013 continued to be characterised by the effects of the final shutdown of analogue 
transmissions in Germany, of which the negative impact on revenue reached  43 million for the portion of 2013 that 
was affected. The strength of the order book in new market segments more than offset this negative impact and even 
led to an increase in revenue despite the high value of the euro.

SES carried out three successful launches in 2013.

Outlook

SES plans to launch four satellites through 2016, which will add 111 additional repeaters (transponders), targeting 
strong growth markets in particular.

SES is maintaining its forecasts of average revenue and EBITDA growth of 4.5% over three years.

SES is actively monitoring the gradual commissioning of the constellation of satellites of O3b Networks, an initiative 
from which SES expects substantial value creation in the coming years.

www.ses.com
Share: 2.1%

Supportive investments
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Activities

Foyer Finance is a holding company that holds around 80% of Foyer S.A. and approximately 44% of Luxempart.

In 2013, Foyer Finance proposed a dividend of €40.20 gross/share, representing a 10.4% increase on the previous 
financial year’s ordinary dividend.

Foyer S.A. is a company active in insurance and asset management.

Key figures and highlights of the year

Foyer S.A.

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Revenues (gross earned premiums) 484.59 431.07 12.4%

Non-life 324.37 307.36 5.5%

Life 160.22 123.71 29.5%

Consolidated net profit 69.90 61.45 13.8%

Non-life insurance 37.66 44.39 -15.2%

Life insurance 16.20 13.33 21.5%

Wealth management 16.05 3.73 330.3%

 2013 2012 ∆

Gross dividend per share 1.98 1.75 12.8%

Special dividend (Foyer Group’s 90th birthday celebration) - 0.40

Share price per share 62.31 46.72 33.4%

In 2013, the Group’s revenue was up 12.4%. 

Recurring profit remained stable at  76.32 million.

Consolidated net profit after taxes was  69.90 million, i.e. 13.8% growth compared with the previous year.

The Foyer Group’s wealth management activities, carried out under the CapitalatWork Foyer Group brand, reached  
 5.14 billion at 31 December 2013 versus  4.60 billion in 2012, i.e. 11.7% growth.

Mr François Tesch is transferring his duties as CEO of Foyer S.A. to Mr Marc Lauer and will become President of Foyer 
S.A. as from the 2014 Annual General Meeting.

Outlook

The group maintains its growth rate forecasts at a level close to that of previous years (4% to 5%).

In an environment characterised by fiscal transparency, the group believes that the flexibility of its life insurance 
solutions, marketed under the freedom to provide services principle, will enable it to increase its business in a growing 
number of markets.

The wealth management business is also expected to perform well due to strong commercial momentum and a 
strengthened administrative organisation.

However, the development of Foyer group results will depend on the technical hazards inherent in the insurance sector 
as well as stock market fluctuations.

www.foyer.lu
Share in Foyer Finance: 18.2% 
Share in Foyer S.A.: 6.1%
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Activities

Atenor Group is a real estate development company listed on NYSE Euronext Brussels. Its role is to provide, via its 
urban and architectural approach, appropriate responses to new requirements imposed by developments in urban and 
professional living. Within this framework, the Atenor Group invests in large-scale real estate projects fulfilling strict 
criteria in terms of location, economic efficiency and respect for the environment.

Key figures and highlights of the year

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Consolidated  equity 104.79 98.74 6.1%

Revenues 110.00 45.94  139.4%

Consolidated net profit – Group share 12.02 9.49 26.5%

 2013 2012 ∆

Gross dividend per share 2.00 2.00 0.0%

Share price per share 34.25 32.00 7.0%

Revenues of  110 million were generated mainly from sales relating to the UP-site, Trebel and Port du Bon Dieu projects.

Operating profit was  23.84 million, affected mainly by the transfer to PMV, during the first half of the year, of UP-
site’s B2 block and by the sale of the Tower apartments and Terrace buildings; the Trebel project also contributed to 
operating profit on a percentage-of-completion basis (38.48%) as did the first 22 deeds and sale agreements signed 
as part of the Port du Bon Dieu project; lastly, the indemnities received for the City Docks project in Anderlecht made 
an additional contribution to operating profit.

The group’s net financial debt is  174.93 million. It is made up of  189.44 million in long-term debt (including two 
bond loans) and a net cash position of  14.4 million.

Outlook

The positive overall trend in 2013 is clearly reflected in the numerous urban planning permits that have been obtained 
or are pending, and in the various phases of construction underway or commissioned. The specific progress made in 
terms of marketing, for both office and residential projects, not only provides significant visibility on results for 2014 
and subsequent years, but also demonstrates an unprecedented diversity in the source of these results.

The very specific niches in which Atenor is active still depend on complex urban development procedures so that the 
scheduled timelines for completion of the projects are likely to change.

In addition, the real estate market, both residential and office, is closely tied to economic conditions.

www.atenor.be
Share: 10.5%
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Activities

RTL Group is the European leader in the audio-visual broadcasting sector and has holdings in 55 television channels 
and in 27 radio stations spread across a total of 10 countries. RTL Group is also highly active in the production sector 
through its subsidiary FremantleMedia, which is responsible for more than 8,500 hours of programming per year.

Key figures and highlights of the year

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Revenues 5,889.00 5,998.00 -1.8%

EBITA 1,152.00 1,078.00 6.9%

Net profit - Group share 870.00 597.00 45.7%

 2013 2012 ∆

Gross dividend per share 5.00 *) 10.50 -52.4%

Share price per share 92.95 74.95 24.0%

*) Of which an interim dividend of E 2.5 was already paid in September 2013

The slight decrease in revenues, which fell from  6 billion in 2012 to  5.9 billion 2013, stemmed mainly from the 
slight drop-off in business at FremantleMedia.

The increase in the advertising market in Germany offset the decrease in the first half of the year in other countries.

The sharp growth in net profit was due mainly to the group’s positive earnings trend and to non-recurring items for 
about  120 million.

Outlook

The group expects profits to remain stable in 2014.

www.rtl-group.com
Share: 0.4%
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Activities

Since July 2012, Poweo and Direct Energie have formed a single company that has become France’s leading alternative 
operator in electricity and natural gas with more than one million customers. The group covers all business lines of the 
energy chain, from production to distribution of electricity and gas.

The common brand Direct Energie holds a leading role in the process of opening up the energy market to competition.

Key figures and highlights of the year

2012 was marked by the merger between Poweo and Direct Energie. The new entity has a management team with 
extensive experience in the energy sector and a strong, mainly French, body of shareholders supporting its industrial 
development

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Revenues 763.3 590.0 29.4%

EBITDA 112.5 102.6 9.7%

EBIT 11.8 -5.0 n/a

Net profit - Group share 5.7 4.7 21.3%

Equity 34.7 20.4 70.1%

 2013 2012 ∆

Gross dividend per share - - -

Share price per share 5.85 3.06 91.0%

The group increased its revenues by almost 30%, of which 23.5% can be attributed to the merger effect and 6.5% 
to the sharp increase in the customer base due to a strong sales push.

As a result of a more balanced regulatory and pricing framework, profitability improved sharply and the profitable 
nature of Direct Energie’s business model was confirmed.

The group reduced its debt significantly and now has a positive net cash position.

Outlook

The group announced that it intends to intensify its customer acquisition efforts and further improve its profitability by 
taking advantage of the opportunities available on what is gradually becoming a more competitive market.

www.direct-energie.com
Share: 10%
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Activities

Pescanova is a Spanish company listed on the Madrid Stock Exchange whose activities focus on sources of marine 
protein, which include fisheries and aquaculture. Since its founding in 1960, Pescanova has built a diversified business 
portfolio encompassing the entire marine product value chain, from extractive fishing to the preparation and sale of 
fish- and shellfish-based specialty products. The company operates with three focuses: wild fishery, aquaculture, and 
packaging of its products. It employs 14,000 people throughout the world.

Key figures and highlights of the year

The Board of Directors meeting called in February 2013 to approve the 2012 results refused to publish them. Following 
this refusal, the company was placed in receivership, where it remains today. Legal audits revealed that the company 
was the victim of possible accounting manipulation which likely sought to conceal losses and debts and was in all 
likelihood carried out by members of the company’s former operational management. At end-2013, consolidated net 
financial debt was found to be close to  3.5 billion, whereas the accounts submitted in February 2012 to the Board 
showed net financial liabilities of less than  1.5 billion. This difference was disclosed while Pescanova was under 
bankruptcy protection in Spain, and therefore reflects significant accounting deficiencies in the figures presented by 
former management.

Following these revelations, Luxempart, in partnership with Damm S.A., requested that an Extraordinary General 
Meeting be held for the purpose of appointing a new Board of Directors of Pescanova. This EGM was held on  
12 September 2013. At the meeting, Luxempart and Damm presented a joint list made up of shareholder representatives 
with no ties to the previous chairman and of a majority of independent representatives; this list received more than 
70% of the votes.

Although it is administrated by Deloitte Spain, Pescanova remains operational, with 2013 revenues of  1.2 billion 
(versus  1.4 billion in 2012) and positive EBITDA, despite the difficult situation. Pescanova commissioned Lazard to 
find new investors able to reach an agreement with the banks; they will likely have to accept significant losses on their 
loans, while also injecting new funds to enable the company to resume normal operations. Luxempart and Damm 
took part in this competitive process and their bid was accepted by the company in December 2013. Since then, the 
consortium made up of Luxempart and Damm has submitted a takeover bid and actively negotiated with the banks 
to reduce the debt to a level that would enable the company to survive and grow over the long term as an integrated 
group. This bid calls for the reinvestment of  150 million, mainly in the form of super senior debt, in which creditors 
are invited to participate; the remainder concerns a capital increase reserved for existing shareholders of Pescanova, 
bankers, and the consortium.

Outlook

The court-supervised reorganisation procedure, which is compatible with Pescanova’s continued operations, will lead 
to a restructuring in order to continue operations for the long term or a winding-up of the group. The decision on 
the company’s future will be made by its creditors, through written consultation. The continuity plan presented by 
Luxempart and Damm will be submitted to the creditors in April 2014 and will take effect only if it is approved by more 
than 50% of the body of creditors. Luxempart has almost fully provisioned the impairment loss on this investment in 
its 2012 and 2013 results.

www.pescanova.com
Share: 5.8%
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Private equity

“Private equity” refers to investments made in unlisted companies. These investments may be made at 
various stages in the development of a company, both to fund creation (seed capital and start-up) and to 
fund growth (capital development). “Private equity” additionally refers to majority or minority takeover 
operations by management or a new generation of entrepreneurs (management buy-out or buy-in). These 
buy-out operations enable the continuation of a number of family businesses faced with problems relating 
to company succession.

For several years, Luxempart has been focusing on developing strong expertise in the private equity sector. Its strategy 
is to rely on strong local teams that are well established on their market, by collaborating with the right partners. 
Luxempart operates:

Through direct acquisition

Luxempart makes investments in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and in countries in which it has expanded its network 
to the extent that it can contribute added value through its presence and develop partnerships based on trust and 
a common strategic vision. Luxempart also participates in co-investments with other funds and local teams. For the 
direct acquisition of participations, Luxempart invests through Luxempart SA or Luxempart Capital Partners SICAR SA.

In Belgium, through Indufin

Indufin is a management company active in development capital and buy-out operations. Indufin develops a strong relationship 
with its investments and promotes a joint vision focusing on creating added value. To acquire holdings in Belgium, Luxempart 
invests on equal terms through Indufin Capital Partners SA SICAR alongside a Belgian partner (De Eik N.V.).

In Germany, through Algebra

This Düsseldorf-based team is dedicated to seeking investment opportunities in Germany, whether this means potential 
buy-outs or development capital operations within medium-size companies. To acquire holdings in Germany, Luxempart 
invests directly or through Luxempart Capital Partners SICAR SA.

In France, through a partnership with Ekkio Capital

In early 2013, Luxempart and Five Arrows Secondary Opportunities III, a Rothschild group fund, acquired, on a fifty-
fifty basis, 82% of the venture capital mutual funds (FCPR) Acto and Acto Capital II.

This operation consists of a partnership with the team at Acto Capital, which was renamed Ekkio Capital, and has 
become a reality through Luxempart’s minority holding alongside the management team.

Ekkio Capital retained the management of the Acto funds (renamed Ekkio Capital I and Ekkio Capital II), and the team 
intends to continue to implement an original investment strategy that favours a proactive, direct approach to companies 
in four sectors of choice: health, tourism and recreation, green business, and ITC (Inspection, Testing, Certification).

Investments are made in French SMEs operating on niche and growth markets.

Ekkio Capital raised a new fund (Ekkio Capital III), of which Luxempart is the sponsor, with a commitment of around 
 30 million. Luxempart invests in funds managed by Ekkio Capital through Luxempart Capital Partners SICAR SA.

Through private equity funds

In the past, Luxempart has made several investments in funds to gain sector or geographic expertise and to participate 
in specific co-investments. Luxempart invests in funds through Luxempart Capital Partners SICAR SA.
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Direct private equity

Luxempart makes direct investments and co-investments in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and in the countries in 
which Luxempart has extended its network. Luxempart develops a partner relationship based on trust and a shared 
strategic vision.

The private equity portfolio held directly by Luxempart or Luxempart Capital Partners is made up as follows::

O3b Networks ($10 million commitment for Luxempart)

O3b (Other three billion people), whose activity is similar to the 
activity of SES, and in which SES has acquired a holding in order 
to be its principal shareholder and promoter, is a company in the 
development phase planning to operate around twenty satellites by 
2018. The goal is to offer to telecom operators and Internet access 
providers a transmission quality comparable to fibre optic with the 
help of satellites positioned at a low altitude (8,000 km). O3b will 
focus its activity on coverage of the geographical area around the 
equator, which is insufficiently served by land cable.

O3b successfully launched its first four satellites in 2013 and is actively 
working on launching the next four (this launch had to be delayed, 
however, which had a negative impact on the business plan as well 
as on the company’s valuation in Luxempart’s accounts).

IP Santé domicile ( 9.35 million co-investment)

IPS provides equipment to patients whose illness requires home 
treatment and educates them in the use of these devices. IPS is a 
service provider whose teams handle the implements and monitors 
a medical prescription. IPS engages in its activity throughout France 
with three focuses: (i) home respiratory assistance, (ii) home infusion, 
nutrition, and insulin therapy, and (iii) home support services.

Activity over 2013 is down slightly compared with 2012, as growth 
in the number of patients has not yet offset the decrease in prices. 
Nevertheless, profitability is up because of the efforts taken to cut 
external expenses, and the company continues to deleverage.

In addition, our associated team in Paris, Ekkio Capital, assists us in 
monitoring this holding.
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DS Care (45.0%)

DS Care is a Luxembourg-based company established by the 
companies Sinequanon, Defi Gestion and Luxempart. It operates 
approximately 600 beds throughout various retirement homes in 
Northern Italy. The group will continue its efforts to consolidate 
existing retirement homes.

Following the management restructuring carried out in 2012 and 
2013, DS Care’s profitability rose compared with 2012. In 2014, 
the company will consolidate its gains and continue to control its 
operating costs. In addition, our associated team in Milan, Bravo 
Invest, assists us in monitoring this holding.

Mirato (15.8%)

Mirato is an Italian company active in the production and distribution 
of products for body care with well-established brands in Italy. 
It generates revenue of around  160 million. In addition, our 
associated team in Milan, Bravo Invest, assists us in monitoring this 
investment.
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Investments made through Indufin:

Indufin Capital Partners S.A. SICAR (ICP)  
Luxempart holds 50% of ICP

Activities

Luxempart S.A. has a 50% holding in ICP with the remaining 50% held by Eik N.V., a Belgian family group. 

ICP’s investment strategy includes two major approaches:

• Funding internal and external growth projects in which ICP will support the management team and existing 
shareholders in line with a “hands with” partnership philosophy. These represent capital development and support 
operations.

• Funding company acquisitions by the management team in place, by a new generation of family entrepreneurs, 
or by an external management team within the framework of buy-out operations with or without leverage. These 
are often majority operations which require greater involvement on the part of the Indufin teams (“hands on”). 
Those operations dealing with the largest amounts of money (up to €30 million in investment) are also evaluated 
on a case-by-case basis.

ICP intends, in all instances, to be an active partner and to contribute towards creating value. The range of investments 
is  3 30 million, open to any sector.

The current geographical area of operation is primarily in Benelux. ICP has a shareholder commitment of 100 million.

Key figures and highlights of the year

Millions of  2013 2012 ∆

Equity 62.48 96.49 -35.2%

Portfolio 45.76 59.09 -22.6%

Total commitment 100.00 100.00 –

Luxempart commitment 50.00 50.00 –

Net profit 6.34 18.40 -65.5%

During financial year 2013, ICP sold its holding in HerbalGem and realised a substantial capital gain. In November 
2013, ICP materialised an investment in Euphaco, a company active in the pharmaceutical sector.

Outlook

Financial year 2014 is in line with 2013. In January 2014, ICP sold its holding in Alphamin and realised a significant 
capital gain. The teams continues to work with caution because of still uncertain economic conditions. The team is 
working on several investment opportunities. 

www.indufin.be
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As at 31 December 2013, the portfolio of Indufin Capital Partners consists of the following:

Alphamin (96.3%)

Alphamin is a distributor of polymers and waxes in niche markets 
at the global level.

Bartech (69.7%)

Bartech is one of the world leaders in the automatic minibar sector.

Euphaco (50.0%)

Euphaco is active in the sourcing, packaging and sale of pharmaceutical 
ingredients for use in compounded pharmaceutical products.

Kyotec Group (32.0%)

Kyotec Group designs, assembles and installs wall facings for large-
scale residential and office building projects

Preflexibel (66.7%)

Preflexibel is active in the prewiring of flexible tubes. 

Rowies (75.0%)

Rowies specialises in the design and distribution of casual shoes under 
the Bluehaven brand. 

SecureLink (40.0%)

SecureLink is a specialised integrator in Benelux in IT security, 
networking, servers, storage and virtualisation.
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Activities

Following the secondary operation carried out by Luxempart and Rothschild/FASO on the private equity funds (investment 
capital activity) held by Groupama, the team of the former “Acto Capital” created its new management company, 
named Ekkio Capital, majority-owned alongside Luxempart.

Ekkio Capital retains the management of the Acto Funds (renamed Ekkio Capital I and Ekkio Capital II), and the 
management team, unchanged, will continue to implement the investment strategy that has been a success for more 
than 10 years. It will thus continue to favour a proactive, direct approach to companies in order to carry out primary 
operations, in its four sectors of choice related to health, tourism and recreation, green business, and ITC (Inspection, 
Testing, Certification).

Above all, the investments will target French SMEs operating on niche markets with proven growth and offering mainly 
industrial value-creation prospects, particularly through organic growth. With its sectorial expertise, the Ekkio Capital 
team will also support the development of these companies through a strategy of targeted acquisitions, in France and 
Europe, eventually targeting the creation of players of reference in their market.

Ekkio Capital has initiated the raising of a third fund, of which Luxempart is the sponsor.

Key figures for FCPR Ekkio Capital I, FCPR Ekkio Capital II and FCPR Ekkio Capital III

Millions of 
FCPR Ekkio  

Capital I
FCPR Ekkio  
Capital II

FCPR Ekkio  
Capital III

Vintage (year of inception) Sept 2002 July 2007 Aug 2013

Fund size 83.5 90.4 100*

Called commitment 
(including recall and subscription premiums) 89.8 69.8 nc

Distributions 122.7 - -

Amounts invested (excluding disposals) 30.6 60.3 nc

Luxempart holding percentage 34.5% 33.3% 75.0%

* expected size
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As at 31 December 2013, the portfolio of FCPR Ekkio Capital I consists of the following:

Locabri (89.3%)

Locabri is a company active in the manufacture and rental of 
temporary, modular, and removable warehouses. Its main customers 
are manufacturers and mass distribution companies.

GMI (50.6%)

The GMI group has two activities: the operation of city-centre hotel-
style residences (aparthotels) under the Appart City brand and the 
sale of new apartments in residences managed by the group to 
individual investors.

Ubiqus (13.9%)

Ubiqus is a leader in the field of professional meetings, offering a 
complete range of value-added services (report writing, translation, 
interpreting, etc.).

As at 31 December 2013, the portfolio of FCPR Ekkio Capital II consists of the following:

IP Santé domicile (28.3%)

IPS is a medico-technical home care group (respiratory assistance, 
drip, nutrition, insulin therapy). 

Groupe 3S (47.6%)

The 3S group is active in airport services in France for airlines and 
ADP (Aéroports de Paris) particularly in runway activities, baggage 
handling, and cleaning.
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L’Inventoriste (48.4%)

The company offers physical inventory outsourcing services for large 
retailers. The group, a leader in France, is deployed in Europe to 
support its customers. It currently operates in France, Spain, Italy, and 
Benelux and is expanding in Poland, the Netherlands, and Germany.

Amatsi (84.7%)

Amatsi is a service provider for pharmaceutical groups and biotech 
companies in the development of medicines. Its activity involves four 
areas: bio services, control of raw materials and finished products, 
formulation and manufacture of pilot batches, and logistics of clinical 
batches. 

Elithis (34.0%)

The Elithis group is an engineering and consulting firm that 
recommends and designs technical fluid installations mainly for new 
buildings (climate and electrical engineering). Its activities are part of 
a quest to improve the energy performance of buildings.

Acceo (38.3%)

Acceo offers inspection and control services for existing buildings and 
installations. Its activity currently involves three areas: lifts, accessibility 
for the disabled, and energy efficiency.

As at 31 December 2013, the portfolio of FCPR Ekkio Capital III consists of the following: 

La Compagnie des Vacances (40.5%)

La Compagnie des Vacances is active in the distribution and online 
marketing of outdoor vacation rentals.
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Activities

The purpose of Algebra is to identify, analyse and acquire minority or majority holdings in German SMEs through buy-
out, development capital or replacement capital operations.

Outlook

The team continues to develop its business and is already working on several investment opportunities.

QUIP (51.0%)

QUIP AG is a German company in the Aachen region providing 
interim and outsourcing services mainly in North Rhine-Westphalia. 
It takes on particular cases in manufacturing and assembly for a 
diverse range of clients.

The company continues to generate profits but these are sharply 
down compared with previous financial years. Projects to diversify 
its activities are underway. 

Algebra’s team is managing this investment in collaboration with 
Luxempart.
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Luxempart invested via specialised private equity funds to allow it to access types of investments which require highly 
specific skills or to access larger-scale operations via major European funding opportunities. The investments made in 
LBO France and Apax fulfil these criteria.

Investments in NTVC I, Mangrove II and Mangrove III enable indirect early-stage investment whilst the holding in Defi 
Eurocap III created the foundations for a genuinely active partnership leading to three co-investments to date.

At the end of 2013, the total drawdown in investment funds stood at   17.7 million and the balance remaining to 
be called was   0.2 million.

LBO France Small Caps Private Equity II (FCPR II)

LBO France Small Caps Private Equity II is an investment fund created by Massena Finance Gestion and LBO France 
Gestion, two companies undertaking complementary business activities. One raises capital from private investors; the 
other ensures the selection, acquisition, management, and trading of various assets.

LBO France Small Caps Private Equity II aims at taking leveraged majority stakes (LBO) in mature companies with a 
value of between   10 million and   100 million.

FCPR Conso Invest

FCPR Conso Invest is an investment fund created by LBO France to hold a specific investment, namely a holding in 
Consolis Group, a leading manufacturer of pre-fabricated cement materials in Europe with 130 plants across 20 countries 
and active in both the construction and public works markets. Following difficulties encountered in this sector, the 
Consolis Group was forced to restructure its debt. At the end of 2010, FCPR Conso Invest shareholders were invited 
to take part in additional financing. Luxempart Capital Partners did not wish to participate in this extra investment.

Apax France VII

Apax Partners is a historical player in private equity in France and abroad with more than 30 years of experience in 
investment.

The funds managed by Apax Partners invest in fast-growing companies that specialise in the following sectors: 
technologies & telecom, retail & consumer goods, media, healthcare, and business services & financial services.

New Tech Venture Capital Fund I (NTVC I)

NTVC I is a Luxembourg-registered investment fund managed by Mangrove Capital Partners. This fund specialises 
in seed capital and the first and second rounds of financing (early stage) in the technology sector (IT, Internet, etc.).

In 2005, the sale of Skype to eBay allowed NTVC to offer shareholders amounts which considerably exceeded their 
initial investments.

NTVC I is in the liquidation phase.

Mangrove II

Mangrove II was launched in September 2005. This fund invests in young European companies active in new technologies.

Investment funds
(through Luxempart Capital Partners Sicar, a 100% subsidiary of Luxempart)
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Mangrove III

Mangrove III was launched in July 2008. This fund invests in young European companies active in new technologies.

Defi Eurocap III

Defi Eurocap is an investment fund created by Defi Gestion Lausanne, a private equity company active in Switzerland, 
France, Germany and Italy.

Defi Eurocap III aims to invest at least 80% of its portfolio in holdings by using leverage (LBO). Target companies are 
SMEs with minimum revenue of   10 million.

Date of
inception

Amount invested
(millions of )

Commitment
(millions of )

Percentage
paid-up

Percentage
held

Apax France VII March 2006 2.50 2.50 100% 0.5%

FCPR Small Caps PE II December 2005 2.50 2.50 100% 1.6%

FCPR Conso Invest February 2007 2.50 2.50 100% 1.0%

Defi Eurocap III October 2006 2.68 2.50 108% 4.6%

NTVC I June 2000 2.50 2.50 100% 4.9%

Mangrove II May 2005 2.50 2.50 100% 2.1%

Mangrove III July 2008 2.03 2.25 90% 1.3%

Breakdown of investment funds in  
estimated value in Luxempart’s portfolio

Mangrove III Apax VII

FCPR Small Cap PE II

Defi Eurocap III

Mangrove II

NTVC I
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To the shareholders of 
Luxempart S.A. 
12 rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange

Report on the consolidated financial statements

Following our appointment by the General Meeting of the Shareholders dated 29 April 2013, we have audited the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Luxempart S.A., which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal 
control the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the réviseur d’entreprises agréé

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing as adopted for Luxembourg by the Commission de 
Surveillance du Secteur Financier. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the réviseur d’entreprises agréé’s judgement including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the réviseur d’entreprises agréé considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Report of the Réviseur d’entreprises agréé
at 31 December 2013
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
Luxempart S.A. as of 31 December 2013 of its financial performance and its consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The consolidated management report, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements.

The statement of corporate governance as published on the Company’s website [http://www.luxempart.lu/], to which 
the management report refers, is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. As at the date of this report, this statement 
is consistent with the annual accounts and includes the required disclosures in accordance with the legal provisions 
relating to the statements of corporate governance

For Deloitte Audit, Cabinet de révision agréé

Christiane Chadoeuf, Réviseur d’entreprises agréé
Partner

28 March 2014
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands of E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Continuing operations

Income from ordinary operations 37,047 25,181

Services/recovery of services 1,872 573

Dividends 6 35,175 24,608

Profit from non-current financial assets 11,12 60,031 -3,601

Gains / (losses) on disposals 39,288 47,233

Unrealised gains / (losses) 20,743 -50,833

Profit from current financial assets 16 314 1,804

Gains / (losses) on disposals -287 140

Unrealised gains / (losses 600 1,664

Operating expenses -8,200 -5,368

Other operating expenses 4 -5,865 -2,983

Staff costs 5 -2,299 -2,360

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 9, 10 -36 -25

Financial income and expenses 7 2,730 4,888

Interest and similar income 3,227 5,539

Interest and similar expenses -497 -652

Share of profit of associates 11 1,013 4,221

Profit before tax 92,935 27,125

Tax on profit from continuing operations  
and other taxes 8 -321 -298

Profit from continuing operations for the year 92,614 26,827

Discontinued operations

Profit for the year from non-current assets  
held for sale and discontinued operations 22 - 1,476

 

Profit for year 92,614 28,304

Attributable to the owners of the Company 89,996 28,320

Attributable to non-controlling interests 2,618 -17

Earnings per share attributable  
to the owners of the Company

Weighted average number of shares 18 22,836,283 22,995,067

Earnings per share from continued activities (in ) 3.94 1.17

Earnings per share (in ) 18 3.94 1.23
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Consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands of E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Consolidated profit for year 92,614 28,304

Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 11, 12 48,824 23,010

Consolidated profit for year 141,438 51,314

Attributable to the owners of the Company 138,820 51,330

Attributable to non-controlling interests 2,618 -17

Weighted average number of shares 22,836,283 22,995,067

Comprehensive income per share 
attributable to the owners of the Company (in E) 6.08 2.23
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Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Assets

(in thousands of E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Non-current assets

Intangible fixed assets 9 2 5

Tangible fixed assets 10 151 120

Investments in associates 11 44,784 53,526

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 538,125 539,874

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit and loss 12 89,220 14,205

Loans and receivables 13 8,449 5,198

Total non-current assets 680,730 612,928

Current assets

Loans and receivables 15 14,273 8,308

Financial assets held for trading 16 42,578 30,765

Cash and cash equivalents 17 256,122 229,085

Total current assets 312,973 268,158

Total assets 993,703 881,086
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2013

Equity and liabilities

(in thousands of E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Equity 
attributable to the owners of the Company

Capital, share premium, and own shares 18 43,352 55,620

Reserves 19 838,231 780,055

Profit for the year 
attributable to the owners of the Company 89,996 28,320

Total equity 
attributable to the owners of the Company 971,579 863,996

Equity –  
attributable to the non-controlling interests

Reserves - 
non-controlling interests 4,837 2,528

Profit for year - 
non-controlling interests 2,618 -17

Equity - attributable to 
non-controlling interests 7,454 2,511

Total equity 979,034 866,507

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 14 6,064 5,703

Borrowings 20 2,533 2,460

Non-current provisions 20 3,797 4,832

Total non-current liabilities 12,394 12,996

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 2,276 1,583

Total current liabilities 2,276 1,583

Total liabilities 14,670 14,578

 

Total equity and liabilities 993,703 881,086
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Consolidated statement of cash flow
for the year ended 31 December 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(in thousands of E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Profit for the year 92,614 28,304

Adjustments for:  

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 9, 10 36 25

Share of profit of associates 11 -1,013 -4,221

Dividends from associates 11 7,961 370

Losses on disposal of current 
 and non-current assets 12, 16, 22 -39,001 -48,850

Unrealised gains on current  
and non-current assets 11, 12, 16 -21,343 49,169

39,253 24,797

Acquisitions of financial assets 12, 16 -87,183 -55,003

Disposals of financial assets 12, 16, 22 109,692 120,466

Net change in loans and receivables -5,966 -1,406

Net change in borrowings and debts 91 -522

Other changes 54 53

Net cash flows from  
operating activities 55,942 88,385

Including:  

Taxes paid  -2,437 -1,626

Interest paid  - -4

Interest received  1,253 3,495

 

Acquisitions / disposals of tangible and intangible assets 10 -63 -95

Change in loans to associates -3,251 -

Acquisitions / creations of associates 11, 22 -7,216 -4,726

Disposals / reductions in capital of associates  11, 22 12,814 2,102

Net cash flows from  
investing activities 2,283 -2,719

Disposals / acquisitions of own shares 18 -12,245 -2,872

Dividends paid 23 -18,944 -17,317

Net cash flows from  
financing activities -31,189 -20,189

Net increase in cash 27,037 65,477

Cash at the beginning of the year 17 229,085 163,608

Cash at the end of the year 17 256,122 229,085

Net increase in cash 27,037 65,477

Dividends paid are made up of dividends of the Company and dividends paid by the subsidiaries outside of the Group.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013

(in thousands  
of ) Notes

Capital and
share

premium
Own

shares
Legal

reserve
Revaluation

reserve
Other

reserves

Profit
for

the year

Attributable  
to owners of
the Company

Non- 
controlling
interests Total

Equity  
at  
31/12/2011  74,998 -16,506 5,984 321,705 403,051 43,224 832,457 20,407 852,864

Dividends paid  
by the Company 23     -17,317  -17,317  -17,317

Allocation  
of profit   4 43,315 -43,224 96  96

Acquisition of  
own shares   -2,872     -2,872  -2,872

Change in  
scope and  
other  
movements     303  303 -17,879 -17,577

Comprehensive  
income for  
the year 11, 12    23,010  28,320 51,330 -17 51,314

Equity  
at  
31/12/2012  74,998 -19,378 5,989 344,715 429,351 28,320 863,996 2,511 866,507

Dividends paid  
by the Company 23     -18,944  -18,944  -18,944

Allocation  
of profit     28,344 -28,320 23  23

Acquisition of  
own shares   -12,269     -12,269  -12,269

Change in  
scope and  
other  
movements     -48  -48 2,325 2,277

Comprehensive  
income for  
the year 11, 12    48,824  89,996 138,820 2,618 141,438

Equity  
at  
31/12/2013  74,998 -31,646 5,989 393,539 438,703 89,996 971,579 7,454 979,034
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
at 31 December 2013

Note 1 - General information

Luxempart S.A. (“the Company” or “Luxempart”) is an investment company (SOPARFI) whose registered office is 
located at 12, rue Léon Laval, L-3372 in Leudelange. The Company was founded on 25 April 1988, under the name 
Bil Participations. The Annual General Meeting of 15 September 1992 decided to change the Company’s name to 
Luxempart S.A. The consolidated financial statements for the financial years ending on 31 December 2012 and 
31 December 2013 incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the 
Group’s share in associates. The Company is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and registered on the trade 
register under no. B27846.

Luxempart S.A. is primarily active in Luxembourg, Belgium, France, Italy and Germany; it actively manages a portfolio 
of listed and non-listed holdings. Luxempart S.A. also operates through specialised subsidiaries:

• Luxempart Capital Partners S.A. Sicar, developing a private equity centre in companies established primarily in 
Europe,

• Indufin Capital Partners S.A. Sicar, developing a private equity centre, is active in development capital and majority 
buyout (MBO and LBO) operations,

• Luxempart Invest S.à r.l., an investment company,

• Algebra GmbH, developing a private equity centre, is active in development capital and majority buyout (MBO and 
LBO) operations mainly in Germany,

• Actoline IV S.A.S., company managing the investment in IP Santé Domicile in France,

• D’Alba Invest S.à r.l., an investment company.

On 28 March 2014, the Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013. 
The consolidated financial statements will be submitted for approval and publication authorisation during the annual 
general meeting held on 28 April 2014.

Note 2 - Consolidation principles, valuation rules, and accounting standards

Declaration of conformity

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted in the European Union.

Framework for preparation and presentation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros (). They are prepared based on the 
historical cost, with the exception of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held for trading, which are 
recognised at fair value.

The functional currency is the euro ().
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The accounting principles and rules are applied consistently on an ongoing basis within the Group. The consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the financial years ending on 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 and are 
presented before allocation of the Company’s profit. The allocation of profit will be proposed to the Annual General 
Meeting on 28 April 2014.

Consolidation principles

The consolidated financial statements under IFRS incorporate all companies controlled (fully or jointly) as well as those 
in which the Group has significant influence.

Subsidiaries (fully consolidated)

A subsidiary refers to a company in which the Group has control while holding decision-making power on both financial 
and operational levels. In principle, this control is the consequence of directly holding more than 50% of the voting rights.

These companies are fully consolidated starting from the date on which the entity’s control is assumed by the Group 
and ceases on the day when this control is lost.

Subsidiaries that are more than 50% held but whose Articles of Association indicate joint control are consolidated 
according to the equity method, as recommended by IAS 31.

Non-controlling interests are presented in equity on the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from 
“Equity attributable to the owners of the Company “, and classified under “Non-controlling interests”. Non-controlling 
interests in the Group’s profit are also indicated separately on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and classified 
under “Non-controlling interests”.

Expenses, income, assets, and liabilities of subsidiaries are fully incorporated into the consolidated financial statements. 
Transactions between companies of the Group, intercompany accounts, and unrealised profits on intragroup transactions 
are fully eliminated.

A list of the Group’s subsidiaries is presented in Note 22.

Joint ventures and associates (equity method)

Joint venture refers to a company that, based on a contractual agreement between the Group and one or more other 
parties, engages in an economic activity under joint control.

An associate is a company in which the Group exercises significant influence through its participation in the political, 
financial, and operational decisions of the held company.

Significant influence is assumed when the Group directly or indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting rights through 
its subsidiaries.

These companies are accounted for using the equity method. The value of an investment in an associate is impaired, 
where appropriate, to recognise any significant or permanent loss in value of each associate.

A list of the Group’s associates is presented in Note 22.
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Transactions in foreign currencies

Transactions carried out in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the exchange rate in force as 
at the transaction date. At the end of each reporting period, the monetary items in foreign currencies are converted at 
the rate of the last day of the financial year. Losses or profits from the realisation or conversion of monetary elements 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The following exchange rates were used for conversion of the consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2013, 
one euro is equal to:

US dollar USD 1.3790

Pound sterling GBP 0.8337

Swiss franc CHF 1.2275

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost in relation to the Group’s share in the net fair value of identifiable 
assets and liabilities as well as any contingent liabilities of a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity, or an associate as at the 
acquisition date. Goodwill is considered an asset and is not subject to amortisation but undergoes an annual impairment 
test as at the closing date (or at an earlier date if there is an indication of a loss of value).

Principle of impairment of tangible and intangible fixed assets and goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but undergoes an impairment test performed annually at the closing date of 
the financial year (or at an earlier date if there is an indication of loss of value).

In addition, at each closing date, the Group reviews the book value of investments in associates as well as the book 
value of tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed assets with a defined useful life in order to assess whether there is 
any indication of a loss in value of these assets.

If there is such an indication, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the amount of the loss in 
value. The recoverable amount is the higher value between the asset’s fair value less costs of sell and its going-concern 
value. The going-concern value is the discounted value of estimated future cash flows expected from continued use 
of the asset.

Intangible fixed assets with a fixed life

Intangible fixed assets with a fixed life are valued at their acquisition cost minus accumulated amortisation and any 
impairments of value. Amortisation is applied according to the straight-line method based on an estimate of the fixed 
asset’s useful life and its possible residual value.

Intangible fixed assets are not subject to revaluations. 

The useful life is as follows:

Acquired software 3 years
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Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are recognised at their acquisition cost (including related direct commissioning expenses) minus 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment. Depreciation is applied according to the straight-line method based 
on an estimate of the useful life of the said fixed asset. Costs related to maintenance are recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Tangible fixed assets are not subject to revaluations. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Facilities and transport equipment 3 - 5 years

Other tangible fixed assets, furnishings 10 years

Fair value measurement

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants, on the principal or most advantageous market, at the measurement date.

Investments in securities

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets presented in non-current assets are investments in companies in which the Group 
does not exercise significant influence. This lack of significant influence is assumed if the Group does not directly or 
indirectly hold more than 20% of the voting rights. These investments are considered available-for-sale financial assets 
and are initially recognised at their acquisition cost.

They undergo a valuation at fair value at the end of each reporting period, and any variations are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and aggregated in the revaluation reserve.

Listed shares are valued based on their market price on the closing date. Non-listed shares are valued based on valuation 
methods in line with the requirements of the European Venture Capital Association (EVCA). Holding companies are 
valued based on their intrinsic value minus an illiquidity discount.

An impairment mechanism is applied for financial assets in case of occurrence of events, circumstances, changes, or 
projections significantly or permanently decreasing the fair value of said financial assets.

If the fair value recognised at the closing date is below the one recognised at the previous period but remains greater 
than the acquisition price, impairment is recognised in the revaluation reserve.

For listed financial assets, the Group carries out an automatic impairment through the statement of profit or loss and 
not through the revaluation reserve if the recognised fair value (market price) as at the closing date is lower than the 
IFRS acquisition price:

• either by more than 50%,

• or for a consecutive period of more than 24 months.
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For all financial assets whose fair value recognised as at the closing date is less than the acquisition price, the Audit 
Committee analyses the significant and permanent nature of the loss and may propose to the Board of Directors that 
the difference between the fair value and the acquisition price be impaired not through the revaluation reserve but 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In case of an event subsequent to the close known before the consolidated financial statements are approved by the 
Board of Directors, the Board may, on the advice of the Audit Committee:

• Forgo the impairment if the permanent nature of the impairment has disappeared due to the event subsequent 
to the close.

• Recognise an impairment if its permanent nature is determined.

In the event of disposal of an available-for-sale asset, the difference between the net proceeds from the sale and 
the book value (value on the consolidated statement of financial position as at the disposal date, corrected for the 
accumulated amount in the revaluation reserve) is recognised on the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the measurement of the fair value of the available-for-sale assets in non-listed companies, Luxempart adopts 
a multi-criteria approach and applies several of the following methods:

• Discounted Cash Flow valuation: this method of valuation through the discounting of cash flows available to the 
company calculates the enterprise value (EV) for all of its capital providers (banks and shareholders). The adopted 
discount rate comes from market data and varies between 5% and 15%.

• Market multiple valuation: the economic rationale for this valuation method is based on the principle of the law 
of one price according to which two similar assets should be worth the same price (market multiple - example: x 
times revenue).

• Reference price from letters of intent or a capital increase (or other forms of financing giving access to capital).

• Recent transaction multiple valuation: the application of this method is identical to the method for market multiple 
valuation, except that this method uses recent transaction multiples that are less volatile than market multiples.

• Net asset value or revalued net asset value: net asset value refers to the equity of the holding. The revalued net 
asset value is an estimate of the value of the equity that involves separately assessing the company’s various assets 
and liabilities and calculating their algebraic sum. It is also called the assets or sum-of-parts method.

A weighting is then applied on the values obtained according to each method (the multiple valuation method and the 
discounted cash flow valuation method, when they are applicable, are weighted at a minimum of 25%). Discounts 
for illiquidity and for specific cyclical risks are applied, when appropriate.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, application of the accounting principles and methods described 
below requires Management to make assumptions and estimates that may have an impact the amounts recognised on 
the statement of profit or loss, on the valuation of assets and liabilities on the statement of financial position, and on 
the information presented in the accompanying notes. Management makes these estimates and assumptions based 
on the information available on the date on which the consolidated financial statements are drawn up and may be 
required to exercise its judgment. By nature, valuations based on these estimates are subject to a number of risks and 
uncertainties before their future realisation. Consequently, the actual results of the operations in question may differ 
from these estimates and therefore have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Financial assets held for trading

Financial assets held for trading are assets acquired mainly with a view to be sold in the short term.

They are measured at fair value at each closing of the accounts. Unrealised capital gains and losses are recognised on 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the event of disposal of a financial asset held for trading, the difference between the net proceeds from the sale 
and the net book value is recognised on the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The transaction is recognised as at the settlement date. 

Assets held for sale

When, as at the closing date of the financial statements, it is highly probable that non-current assets or groups of 
directly related assets and liabilities will be sold, they are designated as assets (or groups) held for sale. Their sale is 
considered to be highly probable if, as at the closing date of the financial statements, a plan intended to offer them 
for sale at a reasonable price in relation to their fair value has been initiated in order to find a buyer and carry out their 
sale within a maximum period of one year. Non-current assets (or groups) held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. They are presented separately on the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

The transaction is recognised as at the settlement date. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assets not listed on the stock exchange and repayable with fixed maturity. They originate when 
the Group either makes funds, assets, or services available. They are part of current assets insofar as their maturity does 
not exceed twelve months after the closing date (short term). Otherwise, they are part of non-current assets (long term).

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost according to the effective interest rate method. In the event 
of a prolonged or significant loss in value, loans and receivables are impaired through the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include liquidities, sight deposits, and short-term deposits of less than three months, as 
well as highly liquid, easily convertible investments.

Capital

Issued shares are considered to be representative of the share capital. Issued equity is recognised for the amount of 
cash obtained in exchange after deducting direct issue costs.

When a company of the Group acquires shares of the parent company, the price paid plus the related incurred costs are 
charged against equity at the moment when these shares are cancelled or transferred. When such shares are transferred, 
the transfer price net of expenses incurred during this transfer transaction and net of taxes is added to the equity.

In view of the Group’s liquidity, all new investments are funded only from the Company’s equity. For investments in 
private equity, external debt may be used at the holding level.
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Bank borrowings and overdrafts

Bank borrowings and overdrafts bearing interest are recognised at the amount of the cash obtained after deducting any 
direct expenses. Transaction expenses (if they are material) are amortised over the remaining life of the debt. Current 
account credits are part of short-term debts.

Current and deferred taxes

Income taxes are calculated according to the legal requirements. Advances paid for a specific financial year are 
recognised as receivable and income tax expense (corporate income tax and municipal business tax) is estimated and 
recognised as provision.

Deferred taxes originate when a temporary difference appears between the taxable base of an asset or liability and the 
value at which it appears on the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred tax is calculated by applying 
the tax rate as well as the provisions of the law in force at the time of the calculation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised as assets when it is likely that taxable profits will be available, allowing the deferred 
tax assets to be used.

When a company of the Group has tax loss carry forwards, the Group recognises a deferred tax asset only to the extent 
that the Group has convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available during future financial years.

Provisions and other liabilities

Provisions are recognised once the Group has an actual obligation (legal or implied) resulting from past events that will 
probably generate an outflow of resources representative of economic benefits at an amount that can be reasonably 
estimated.

Other liabilities are recognised at their nominal value. 

Fair value hierarchy

A portion of the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets is classified in level 3 (assets whose valuation is not based on 
observable market data). These level 3 assets represent 1.63% of available-for-sale financial assets as at 31 December 
2013.

The valuation models for these investments are based on comparable company multiple methods as well as discounting 
of free cash flows. A reasonable variation of 10% of the multiples or a weighted average of them is used in order to 
measure the impact on the fair value of these assets.

Segment information

The Luxempart Group’s investment policy is not determined based on a segment distribution. Investments are made 
as opportunities arise regardless of any segment and/or geographical area.

Income from ordinary activities

The Group provides services to its associates. They are recognised based on the degree of progress. These services are 
the subject of a service contract between the entities involved.
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The Group also recognises dividends on the date of receipt. They result from the distribution of profits to holders of 
equity instruments in proportion to the rights that they hold in a category of securities making up the capital.

Accounting methods, changes in accounting estimates

The accounting methods adopted as at 31 December 2013 are consistent with the previous financial year.

The entry into force on 1 January 2013 of the following standards and interpretations, as adopted by the European 
Union, had no effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

• Amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” entitled “Transfers of Financial Assets”

• IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” (except with respect to additional disclosures)

• IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”.

Some standards, interpretations, and amendments of standards that have been published by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) are not yet applied in the European Union at 31 December 2013. The Group did 
not anticipate their application.

• IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and its amendments, intended to replace IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement”, not adopted by the European Union

• Amendments to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”, 
and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” applicable as from 1 January 2014

• Amendments to IAS 36 “Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets” applicable as from 1 January 
2014

• Annual improvements to IFRS (2010-2012 and 2011-2013)

• Amendments to IAS 19: “Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions”

The IASB has published the following standards: IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 – Joint 
Arrangements, IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
and IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, as well as the “Investment Entities” amendment to these 
standards. These standards apply as from 1 January 2014.

IFRS 10 aims to establish principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements and 
redefines the concept of control; IFRS 11 introduces a new definition of joint arrangements; and IFRS 12 strengthens 
the reporting requirements for all consolidated and unconsolidated entities.

The investment entities amendment to IFRS 10 introduces an exception to consolidation for entities that meet certain 
criteria.

Luxempart has not finalised its analysis of the impact of these new standards on its consolidated financial statements.

If Luxempart meets the criteria for an investment entity, it would be exempted from consolidating its subsidiaries, 
except for subsidiaries that provide services to the Group. Associates that are accounted for using the equity method, 
as well as other financial assets, would be measured at their fair value through profit and loss. As at 31 December 
2013, consolidated profit would rise by around  600 thousand and equity by around  1,400 thousand.
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If Luxempart does not meet the investment entity criteria, it would have to prepare consolidated financial statements 
as defined in the new IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IAS 28 standards. The new definitions of control and influence are being 
analysed by management and their impact would be that some of the Group’s financial assets could be consolidated 
according to the equity method. The impact on the consolidated accounts at 31 December 2013 cannot be reasonably 
estimated as the companies in question have not prepared consolidated financial statements under IFRS as applicable 
at 1 January 2014.

A change in accounting method is applied only if it meets the provisions of a standard or interpretation or permits 
more reliable, more relevant information. Changes in accounting method are recognised retrospectively, except in 
cases of a transitional provision specific to the standard or interpretation. A material error, when it is discovered, is 
also adjusted retrospectively.

The uncertainties inherent in the activity require the use of estimates in preparing the financial statements. Estimates 
come from judgments intended to provide a reasonable assessment of the most recent available reliable information. 
An estimate is revised in order to reflect changes in circumstances, new available information, and effects related to 
experience.

Note 3 - Segment information

Luxempart manages a portfolio of listed and non-listed holdings mainly in Luxembourg, Belgium, France, Italy and 
Germany. Each investment is managed with a view to creating value so as to increase the Company’s asset value and 
the per share value for its shareholders.

In working as a professional shareholder, Luxempart has four distinct focuses:

• Supportive investments: Luxempart seeks to assist ambitious companies in developing their strategies for growth, 
especially in an international environment, and those that wish to benefit from the support a strategic investor can 
provide, namely its experience, network and long-term view. It favours prudent and continuous risk management.

 These supportive investments are primarily minority participations. Luxempart undertakes its profession as an in-
vestor through active involvement in the strategic choices, major decisions, and control procedures of investments, 
by sitting, to the extent possible, on Board meetings, by voting at Annual General Meetings and by ensuring good 
corporate governance practices. Continuous support is given to management teams without Luxempart’s teams 
interfering in the day-to-day handling of business.

• Private equity: Luxempart invests in high-potential companies, on its own or in partnership through specialised 
private equity teams, and may use financial leverage. Investments in this segment are often accompanied by the 
acquisition of a majority holding through the ownership vehicle. The amounts invested by company are less than 
those dedicated to supportive investments. The investment horizon is generally short or medium term.

• Transferable securities: In order to optimise its cash management and diversify its assets, Luxempart holds a 
portfolio of securities. The investment horizon is short to medium term. The goal is to generate recurring revenue 
and register capital gains.
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• Private equity funds: Luxempart has invested in private equity funds to diversify its long-term investments in 
specific sectors or for specific reasons, while seeking an appropriate return for its shareholders. These investments 
also enable Luxempart to syndicate some of its direct investments in private equity.

a. Long-term investments

The following tables present the geographic breakdown of long-term investments for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E)

Investments
in

associates

Available-
for-sale
assets

Financial
assets at
fair value
through

profit and
loss

Loans and
receivables

Total at  
31/12/2012

Luxembourg 42,891 476,446 - - 519,336 

Belgium 52 20,539 - - 20,591 

Germany 6,241 18,404 - 3,768 28,413 

France - 8,642 14,205 212 23,059 

Spain - 7,940 - - 7,940 

Italy 4,342 - - 1,217 5,559 

Other - 7,904 - - 7,904 

Total 53,526 539,874 14,205 5,198 612,803 

(in thousands of E)

Investments
in

associates

Available-
for-sale
assets

Financial
assets at
fair value
through

profit and
loss

Loans and
receivables

Total at  
31/12/2013

Luxembourg 29,512 484,610 - - 514,123

Belgium 53 20,831 - - 20,884

Germany 10,796 - - 5,369 16,165

France 132 26,058 67,136 905 94,231

Spain - 1,865 - - 1,865

Italy 4,290 - 22,084 2,174 28,549

Other - 4,761 - - 4,761

Total 44,784 538,125 89,220 8,449 680,577
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The following tables present the segment breakdown of long-term investments for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E)

Investments
in

associates

Available-
for-sale
assets

Financial
assets at
fair value
through

profit and
loss

Loans and
receivables

Total at  
31/12/2012

Supportive investments - 523,310 - 1,218 524,528

Private equity 53,526 2,593 14,205 3,980 74,304

Transferable securities - 3,787 - - 3,787

Private equity funds - 10,184 - - 10,184

Total 53,526 539,874 14,205 5,198 612,803

(in thousands of E)

Investments
in

associates

Available-
for-sale
assets

Financial
assets at
fair value
through

profit and
loss

Loans and
receivables

Total at  
31/12/2013

Supportive investments - 526,513 22,084 1,625 550,221

Private equity 44,784 - 67,136 6,824 118,744

Transferable securities - 1,905 - - 1,905

Private equity funds - 9,707 - - 9,707

Total 44,784 538,125 89,220 8,449 680,577

b. Dividends received

The following table presents the geographic breakdown of dividends for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Luxembourg 32,543 21,427

Belgium 1,047 1,047

France 622 1,056

Germany - 16

Spain - 886

Italy 736 -

Other 226 175

Total 35,175 24,608
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The following table presents the segment breakdown of dividends for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Supportive investments 33,590 22,966

Private equity 1,358 -

Transferable securities 133 1,560

Private equity funds 93 83

Total 35,175 24,608

c. Interest income

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Germany 577 1,781 

Total 577 1,781 

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Supportive investments 234 1,526 

Private equity 342 255 

Total 577 1,781 

d. Realised gains or losses on disposal of non-current financial assets

The following table presents the geographic breakdown of realised gains or losses on disposals for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Luxembourg 36,757 55,265

Belgium - 40

France - -7,016

Germany 3,431 -

Spain -900 -1,056

Total 39,288 47,233
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The following table presents the segment breakdown of realised gains or losses on disposals for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Supportive investments 37,603 55,265

Private equity 1,684 40

Transferable securities - -8,072

Total 39,288 47,233

Note 4 - Other operating expenses

The following table provides details of other operating expenses:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Taxes and levies other than income tax 153 209

Compensation paid to directors 424 327

Fees 3,299 1,401

Rental expenses 143 82

Insurance expenses 75 62

Administrative expenses and other operating expenses 1,771 902

Total 5,865 2,983

All expenses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Note 5 - Staff costs

The following table indicates the average number of employees over the year:

Category 2013 2012

Managers 4 4

Support staff 7.5 6.5

11.5 10.5
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The following table provides details of staff costs and benefits:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Remuneration, wages, and bonuses 2,045 1,910

Social security contributions 127 109

Supplementary pension plan 66 54

Stock option plan 62 286

Total 2,299 2,360

The Group has opted for a defined-contribution scheme and pays annual contributions to a separate entity 
(Foyer Vie). The Group will have no legal or implied obligation to pay additional contributions if said entity does not 
have enough assets to cover the benefits corresponding to the services rendered by staff members during the period 
in progress and prior periods.

Premiums are paid annually and recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group offers defined-contribution pension plans to its employees. These plans are managed by the state of 
Luxembourg.

Luxempart must pay contributions corresponding to a percentage of the payroll expenses into the retirement scheme 
in order to fund these benefits.

The only obligation with regard to the retirement scheme involves paying the defined contributions, and these 
contributions are recognised in staff costs.

Stock option plan for management

In 2009, Luxempart established a stock option plan for members of management.

For financial year 2013, the Board of Directors granted 31,485 Luxempart options with an exercise price of €27.40 
per share.

The fair value of the options is calculated according to a matrix using a Monte Carlo analysis. An expense is recognised 
on the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The impact for 2013 is  193 thousand.

The table below summarises the movements of the year:

Number of options issued as at 01/01/2013 84,185

Options exercised in 2013 -12,500

Options matured in 2013 -

Options issued in 2013 31,485

Number of options issued as at 31/12/2013 103,170
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The table below provides the plan’s characteristics:

Characteristics of the stock option plan  

Number of options as at 31/12/2013 103,170

Exercise price per share 1st tranche (from 2009) 21.20

Exercise price per share 2nd tranche (from 2010) 23.99

Exercise price per share 3rd tranche (from 2011) 23.64

Exercise price per share 4th tranche (from 2012) 22.50

Exercise price per share 5th tranche (from 2013) 27.40

Exercise period 1st tranche May 2012 - May 2019

Exercise period 2nd tranche May 2013 - May 2020

Exercise period 3rd tranche May 2014 - May 2021

Exercise period 4th tranche May 2015 - May 2022

Exercise period 5th tranche May 2016 - May 2023

Share price when granted 1st tranche 22.00

Share price when granted 2nd tranche 22.51

Share price when granted 3rd tranche 22.84

Share price when granted 4th tranche 24.94

Share price when granted 5th tranche 27.80

Dividend growth 10.0%

Historical volatility of share price 29.2%

Discount rate 1.7%

As at 31 December 2013, the liability relating to the stock option plan amounts to €844 thousand and is included in 
“non-current provisions and borrowings” in Note 20.

Note 6 - Dividends received

The following table breaks down the dividends received during the year:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Foyer S.A. 1,143 782

Foyer Finance 3,051 2,432

SES 11,774 10,682

RTL Group 16,457 6,456

Other 2,750 4,256

Total 35,175 24,608
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Note 7 - Financial income and expense

The following tables provide details of financial income and expenses:

a. Interest and similar income

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Interest income 3,156 5,399

Other income 71 141

Total 3,227 5,539

b. Interest and similar expenses

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Bank expenses and interest expenses 180 228

Other expenses 317 424

Total 497 652

Interest income includes mainly interest on deposit accounts with credit institutions. An analysis of the financial risk 
relating to interest is detailed in Note 26.

Bank expenses and interest expenses primarily include interest on short-term cash advances of the financial year.

Note 8 - Current and deferred tax expense

The Group recognised the current tax expense on the corporate profits of all of the Group’s companies as follows: 

a. Details of taxes on ordinary activities and other taxes

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Corporate income tax (IRC) 126 -12

Municipal business tax (ICC) 43 -

Deferred taxes 137 304

Taxes on profit from ordinary activities (b.) 306 292

Wealth taxes 15 6

Total 321 298
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b. Reconciliation of tax expense on profit from ordinary activities

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Profit before tax (excluding profit from associates) 91,922 22,904

Company’s average tax rate 29.97% 29.55%

Theoretical tax expense 27,549 6,768

Specific tax scheme applicable to Sicars -1,093 -258

Discounts from previous years 151 12

Effect of non-taxable capital gains -15,799 1,064

Effect of non-taxable dividends -10,502 -7,293

Total tax expense 306 292

Note 9 - Intangible fixed assets

The movements in intangible fixed assets that occurred during financial years 2012 and 2013 can be summarised as follows:

Cost (in thousands of E) Acquired software

as at 31/12/2011 25

Acquisitions and disposals -

as at 31/12/2012 25

Acquisitions and disposals -

as at 31/12/2013 25

Depreciation (in thousands of E) Acquired software

as at 31/12/2011 16

Depreciation 4

as at 31/12/2012 19

Depreciation 4

as at 31/12/2013 23

Carrying amount (in thousands of E) Acquired software

as at 31/12/2012 5

as at 31/12/2013 2
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Note 10 - Tangible fixed assets

The movements in tangible fixed assets that occurred during financial years 2012 and 2013 can be summarised as follows:

Cost (in thousands of E)
Office and computer  

equipment Vehicles Total

as at 31/12/2011 37 54 92

Acquisitions and disposals 93 - 93

as at 31/12/2012 131 54 185

Acquisitions and disposals 63 - 63

as at 31/12/2013 194 54 248

Depreciation (in thousands of E)
Office and computer  

equipment Vehicles Total

as at 31/12/2011 30 16 46

Depreciation 9 11 20

as at 31/12/2012 38 27 66

Depreciation 21 11 32

as at 31/12/2013 59 38 97

Carrying amount (in thousands of E)
Office and computer  

equipment Vehicles Total

as at 31/12/2012 92 27 120

as at 31/12/2013 134 16 151



80 Luxempart S.A.  IFRS consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013

Note 11 - Investments in associates

The following tables provide details of changes in the investments in associates for 2012 and 2013.

(in thousands of E)

Fair value as at 31/12/2011 52,394

Acquisitions during the year 4,726

Disposals during the year -2,102

Share of profit 4,221

Elimination of dividend -370

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve -2,956

Change in fair value through profit and loss -2,346

Change in scope and other changes -41

Fair value as at 31/12/2012 53,526

Acquisitions during the year 7,216

Disposals during the year -12,814

Share of profit 1,013

Elimination of dividend -7,962

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve 2,935

Change in fair value through profit and loss 926

Change in scope and other changes -57

Fair value as at 31/12/2013 44,784

According to the equity method, the investments are initially recognised at acquisition cost. The subsequent 
measurements are based on:

• the Group’s share in the profits of the associate after the acquisition date

• adjustments relating to revaluations of long-term investments held by associates.

During the year, Luxempart participated in capital increases and reductions in Indufin Capital Partners S.A. for a net 
amount of  10,011 thousand. Luxempart also acquired two holdings: one in DMB2 GmbH for  3,850 thousand 
and another in Ekkio Capital S.A.S. for  119 thousand.

Luxempart also participated in the capital increase in Quip Interim Holding for  444 thousand.
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Fair value hierarchy

All investments in associates measured at fair value are classified as level 3.

Financial disclosures about investments in associates as at 31 December 2013

(in thousands of E)

Indufin 
Capital 
Partner 

S.A.
Indufin 

S.A.
DS Care 

S.A.

QUIP 
Interim 

Holding 
GmbH

DMB2 
GmbH

Ekkio 
Capital 

S.A.S

Total equity 62,477 133 15,459 2,797 11,704 666

Total assets 63,460 2,512 42,654 41,087 38,903 1,330

Revenues 74 1,479 12,583 26,285 40,384 2,019

Profit for the year 6,337 3 -308 -34 -11 66

Note 12 - Other non-current financial assets

The following tables provide details of changes in non-current financial assets for 2012 and 2013:

(in thousands of E)

Available- 
for-sale 

assets

Financial assets  
at fair value  

through profit  
and loss Total

Fair value as at 31/12/2011 568,305 - 568,305

Acquisitions during the year 38,173 14,205 52,378

Disposals during the year -91,403 - -91,403

Gains on disposal of non-current assets 47,233 - 47,233

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve 26,054 - 26,054

Change in fair value through profit and loss -48,487 - -48,487

Fair value as at 31/12/2012 539,874 14,205 554,079

Acquisitions during the year 9,943 65,513 75,456

Disposals during the year -93,063 -14,345 -107,407

Gains on disposal of non-current assets 39,288 - 39,288

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve 46,112  - 46,112

Change in fair value through profit and loss 1) 2) -4,029 23,846 19,817

Fair value as at 31/12/2013 538,125 89,220 627,345

1) Change in fair value through profit and loss relating to an impairment.
2) Change in fair value through profit and loss relating to a revaluation: some associates held by venture capital firms or similar entities are recognised at 

fair value under “financial assets at fair value through profit and loss” in accordance with IAS 28.
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Available-for-sale assets are broken down as follows:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Fixed-income assets 1,865 25,431

Variable-income assets 625,479 528,648

Total 627,345 554,079

A portion of the positions recognised in available-for-sale assets is subject to market risks. An analysis of the risk related 
to price fluctuations is provided in Note 26.

Fair value hierarchy for available-for-sale assets

The Group uses a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the data allowing valuations to be established. 

Level 1: Quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Data other than quoted market prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (for example, prices) or indirectly (for example, elements derived from prices);

Level 3: Data about the asset or liability not based directly on observable market data.

(in thousands of E) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Fair value as at 31/12/2011 430,981 84,140 53,185 568,305

Acquisitions during the year 30,107 532 7,533 38,173

Disposals during the year -23,569 - -67,834 -91,403

Gains on disposal of non-current assets -8,072 - 55,304 47,233

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve 56,746 8,721 -39,414 26,054

 Change in fair value through profit and loss -48,487 - - -48,487

Fair value as at 31/12/2012 437,706 93,393 8,774 539,874

Acquisitions during the year 9,364 578 - 9,943

Disposals during the year -89,540 -996 -2,526 -93,063

Gains on disposal of non-current assets 37,603 - 1,684 39,288

Change in fair value through revaluation reserve 27,456 20,408 -1,751 46,112

Change in fair value through profit and loss -1,075 - -2,955 -4,029

Fair value as at 31/12/2013 421,515 113,383 3,227 538,125

During the year, there were no transfers between fair value levels.

Fair value hierarchy for financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

All assets are classified as level 3.
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Note 13 - Non-current loans and receivables

The following table provides details of the non-current loans and receivables:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Loans 8,449 5,198 

Total 8,449 5,198 

The fair value of the various components of long-term receivables does not differ significantly from their carrying 
amount. These receivables are loans granted to associates payable within more than one year.

Note 14 - Deferred tax

The deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position is broken down as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Financial assets 1,458 1,097 

Untaxed reserves 4,606 4,606 

Total 6,064 5,703 

IAS 12

This item was reintegrated into the equity after deduction of a deferred tax liability of €4,606 thousand during financial 
year 2013 (2012:  4,606 thousand).

The item “Financial assets” includes deferred taxes relating to IAS 39 below and deferred taxes calculated on unrealised 
capital gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

IAS 39

The changes in deferred tax liabilities relating to IAS 39 represent the share of deferred taxes in the fair value of financial 
assets. The investments not subject to specific tax regimes give rise to the calculation of a:

• deferred tax liability in the case of an unrealised capital gain

• deferred tax asset in the case of an unrealised capital loss
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Note 15 - Current loans and receivables

The following table provides details of the current loans and receivables:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Tax receivables 1,160 1,500

Trade receivables 355 315

Other receivables 5,897 6,483

Accrual accounts 6,862 11

Total 14,273 8,308

The fair value of the various components of short-term receivables does not differ significantly from their carrying 
amount. The maturity of short-term receivables is less than one year.

Other receivables consist mainly of a receivable for an investment that was sold and of accrued interest not yet due 
( 856 thousand).

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had sold part of its position in SES. Some of the securities sold had not yet been 
liquidated and were included in accrual accounts. All the positions have now been liquidated.

Note 16 - Financial assets held for trading

Movements that occurred on this item during the year are presented below:

(in thousands of E)

Fair value as at 31/12/2011 26,861

Acquisitions during the year 7,510

Disposals during the year -5,411

Gains on disposal 140

 Change in fair value through profit and loss 1,664

Fair value as at 31/12/2012 30,765

Acquisitions during the year 13,786

Disposals during the year -2,285

Losses on disposal -288

 Change in fair value through profit and loss 600

Fair value as at 31/12/2013 42,578
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Financial assets held for trading mainly include shares and bonds that are subject to market risk. An analysis of the risk 
related to price fluctuations is detailed in Note 26.

Fair value hierarchy for assets held for trading 

All assets are classified as level 1.

Note 17 - Cash and cash equivalents

The following table provides details of the cash position:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Bank deposits with credit institutions 126,524 56,649

Cash at bank and in hand 129,598 172,436

Total 256,122 229,085

Fixed-term deposits generally have maturities ranging from 15 to 30 days based on the Group’s liquidity requirements. 
Deposits bear interest at variable rates in force on the market. An analysis of the liquidity risk is provided in Note 26.

Note 18 - Capital, share premium, own shares, and earnings per share

a. Capital, share premium, and own shares

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Subscribed capital 59,888 59,888

Share premium 15,110 15,110

Own shares -31,646 -19,378

Total 43,352 55,620

As at 31 December 2013, the Group held 1,497,220 (2012: 998,788) own shares for a total of  31,646 thousand. 
The weighted average number of outstanding shares used to calculate the profit per share is 22,836,283.

In financial year 2013, Luxempart sold 12,500 shares and generated a capital gain on disposal of  23 thousand.
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b. Number of shares

2013 2012

Number of shares issued as at 01/01 23,955,084 23,955,084

Number of new shares issued - -

Number of own shares held 998,788 871,288

Number of shares outstanding as at 01/01 22,956,296 23,083,796

Number of own shares acquired or transferred during the year 498,432 127,500

Average number of own shares acquired or transferred during the year -120,013 -88,729

Weighted average number of outstanding shares as at 31/12 22,836,283 22,995,067

c. Earnings per share

2013 2012

Net profit for the year  
attributable to the owners of the Company(in thousands of ) 89,996 28,320

Weighted average number of shares issued 22,836,283 22,995,067

Net earnings per share -  
Attributable to the owners of the Company (in ) 3.94 1.23

As at 31 December 2013, subscribed capital amounts to  59,887,710 and is represented by 23,955,084 fully paid-up 
shares without designation of nominal value. Each share entitles the holder to a dividend and a vote during General 
Meetings.

There are no other share classes or options or pre-emptive rights entitling holders to the issuance of shares of another 
class that could have a dilutive effect on the number of shares issued.

The Company’s share capital may be increased from its current amount to  90,000,000 through the creation and 
issuance of new shares without designation of nominal value, with the same rights and benefits as existing shares.

The Board of Directors has the authorisation, until the 2014 Annual General Meeting, to buy back own shares. The 
accounting par value of the shares bought back, including own shares already previously acquired, may not exceed 
20% of the subscribed capital. This own share buyback policy is intended to improve the security’s liquidity on the stock 
exchange, grant shares to managers, cancel the own shares through a decision of the extraordinary annual general 
meeting, or transfer these shares to a new shareholder.
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Note 19 - Reserves

The following table provides details of the reserves:

a. Reserves

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Legal reserve 5,989 5,989

Revaluation reserve 393,539 344,715

Total 399,528 350,704

b. Other reserves

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Consolidated reserves 427,473 417,596

Special reserve 9,446 9,446

Reserves for wealth tax deductions 1,785 2,310

Total 438,703 429,351

Grand total 838,231 780,055

Legal reserve

From the net profit of the accounts drawn up according to Luxembourg reference standards, 5% must be deducted 
annually to build up the reserve fund required by Luxembourg law. This deduction will no longer be mandatory when 
the reserve fund reaches one-tenth of the share capital.

The legal reserve may not be distributed to the shareholders except in case of dissolution of the Company.

Revaluation reserve

As at 31 December 2013, this item amounts to  393,539 thousand (2012:  344,715 thousand) and mainly includes 
unrealised capital gains and losses net of deferred taxes coming from the change in fair value of available-for-sale 
assets according to the provisions of IAS 39. During 2013, a share of the revaluation reserve was transferred to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss because of the disposal of a portion of the financial assets. This share amounts to 
 27,847 thousand (2012:  34,678 thousand) and is found under “Gains / (losses) on disposal of non-current assets”.
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Special reserve

As at 31 December 2013, this item amounts to  9,446 thousand (2012:  9,446 thousand) and includes the gains 
from disposal on untaxed securities (special items with share of reserve). These gains, recognised in liabilities on the 
consolidated statement of financial position, result from application of Article 54 of the law pertaining to income tax and 
must be reinvested within two years following the financial year of the disposal. If these gains are not reinvested within 
these two year period, they will be reversed through the consolidated statement of profit or loss and subject to tax.

Consolidated reserves

Consolidated reserves include the change in the reserves of the consolidated companies during the financial year as 
well as any movements related to consolidation entries. These reserves also include the IFRS adjustments of companies 
within the consolidation scope. The total amount of these reserves as at 31 December 2013 is  427,334 thousand 
(2012:  417,596 thousand).

Reserves for wealth tax deductions

In accordance with the tax laws in force, the Company set off the wealth tax expense against the amount of the corporate 
income tax. In order to comply with the relevant laws, the Company decided to allocate an amount corresponding to 
five times the amount of the wealth tax deduction to a restricted reserve. The period of unavailability of this reserve 
is five years from the year following that of the set-off of the wealth tax. This reserve is €1,785 thousand as at 31 
December 2013 (2012:  2,310 thousand).

Note 20 - Non-current provisions and liabilities

The following table provides details of the non-current provisions:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Tax provisions 2,920 4,023

Other provisions 877 809

Total 3,797 4,832

These are tax provisions for income taxes and municipal business taxes for 2013 and previous years.

The “Other provisions” item includes the  844 thousand provision for stock options.

The “Borrowings” item, in the amount of  2,533 thousand, concerns debt held by Actoline IV and owed to its other 
shareholders.

The fair value of the borrowing does not differ significantly from its carrying amount.
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Note 21 - Current liabilities

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Tax and social debts 535 226

Trade liabilities 1,689 1,284

Other debts 43 62

Accrual accounts 8 11

Total 2,276 1,583

Tax and social debts, trade liabilities, and other debts mainly come from sums due to the Group’s various suppliers and 
service providers as part of its activities. They are payable within less than three months.

The fair value of short-term debts does not differ significantly from the carrying amount.

Note 22 - List of subsidiaries and associates

a. Fully consolidated subsidiaries

Company Address

Consolidation  
rate  
2013

Consolidation  
rate  
2012

Activity

Luxempart Capital  
Partners S.A. Sicar

12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 100.0% 100.0% Holding

Luxempart Invest S.à r.L 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 100.0% 100.0% Holding 

Luxempart Ireland Limited 1st Floor, Riverview House 
21-23 City Quay Dublin 2 100.0% 100.0% Holding 

Pescahold S.A. 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 100.0% 100.0% Holding 

Algebra GmbH Pfitznerstraße 19 
D-40593 Düsseldorf 88.0% 88.0% Holding 

Actoline IV S.A.S 148, boulevard Haussmann 
F - 75008 Paris 65.6% 65.6% Holding

D’Alba Invest S.à r.L 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 100.0% 0.0% Holding

Ekkio III 26, avenue de l’Opéra 
F-75001 Paris 75.0% 0.0% Private equity

Luxempart Management 
S.à r.L

12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 100.0% 0.0% Holding
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b. Associates accounted for using the equity method

Company Address

Consolidation  
rate  
2013

Consolidation  
rate  
2012

Activity

Indufin Capital Partners  
S.A. Sicar *

12, Rue Léon Laval 
L - 3372 Leudelange 50.0% 50.0% Private equity

Indufin S.A.* Interlevenlaan, 15/B1 
B-3001 Leuven / Haasrode 40.0% 40.0% Private equity

DS Care S.A.*
14, Rue du Marché aux 
Herbes 
L-1728 Luxembourg

45.0% 45.0% Private equity

Quip Interim Holding  
GmbH *

Markt 45-47 
D-52062 Aachen 51.0% 51.0% Private equity

DMB2 GmbH & Co.KG * Colonnaden 25 
D-20354 Hamburg 32.8% 0.0% Private equity

Ekkio Capital S.A.S * 26, avenue de l’Opéra 
F-75001 Paris 19.9% 0.0% Private equity

* company under joint control

Investments held by Indufin Capital Partners S.A. Sicar are not consolidated by the equity method but are measured at 
fair value within Indufin Capital Partners S.A. Sicar, which is itself accounted for using the equity method (Note 11).

The investment in Quip is accounted for using the equity method, as the Articles of Association and the shareholders’ 
agreements provide for joint control.

The value of these investments as at 31 December 2013 is  44,784 thousand (2012:  53,526 thousand) (Note 11). 
According to IAS 31 and alternatively, companies under joint control are accounted for using the equity method.

Note 23 - Dividends

A dividend of  0.8252 gross per share, compared with  0.7502 gross per share in 2012, was paid during the first 
half of 2013 for financial year 2012.

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Previous financial year’s dividend paid during the year 18,944 17,317

Total dividend paid during the year 18,944 17,317

The accounts as at 31 December 2013 do not take into account the dividend that will be proposed to the Annual 
General Meeting of 28 April 2014. It was not recognised as a debt in the 2013 financial statements.

The Board of Directors proposes an ordinary dividend of  0.9077 gross per share. The payment terms of the dividend 
will be communicated during the Ordinary Annual General Meeting of 28 April 2014.
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Note 24 - Main off-balance sheet rights and commitments

The Group has invested in investment funds and has a commitment of  81,378 thousand. As at 31 December 2013, 
the Group still had to pay  30,617 thousand.

The Group has made the commitment to invest $7,249 thousand in O3B, a satellite operator. As at 31 December 2013, 
$2,077 thousand remained to be paid.

Note 25 - Remuneration granted to directors and management bodies

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Profit shares, fixed compensation, and attendance fees 530 409

Managing executive remuneration 680 1,130

Total paid during the year 1,210 1,539

The remuneration granted to directors and management bodies during financial year 2013 is incorporated in “Other 
operating expenses”.

Note 26 - Financial risks

The Group’s major risk is the exposure of its financial assets to market risk. The policy for managing this risk is established 
and controlled by the Group Executive Committee, the Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee.

Investments in listed companies represent 47.4% as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 54.1%) of the Group’s net assets.

The Group’s investments are mainly in companies listed on the stock exchange (Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Brussels 
Stock Exchange, and Paris Stock Exchange). The table below presents the investment by asset class based on the total 
financial assets.

2013 2012

Investment in listed companies 69.3% 80.1%

Investment in private equity 29.3% 18.2%

Investment in private equity Funds 1.4% 1.7%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Management of market risk

Market risk applies to the loss in value of financial assets. The main risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed 
relate to the performance of the financial markets (stock markets, comparable transactions, market multiples, etc.). 
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Luxempart does not systematically withdraw from its investments based on financial market volatility. In principle, the 
Group does not use market risk hedges. It nevertheless regularly monitors changes in the value of its investments.

An analysis of the sensitivity of the listed assets is provided in the table below. A range of variation of +10% to -10% 
was applied to the valuation as at 31 December 2013. This variation influences the consolidated reserves and statement 
of profit or loss. This range of variation is relevant and reasonably possible.

(in thousands of E) -10% -5% +5% +10%

Change through profit and loss -6,585 -2,393 1,864 3,993 

Change through revaluation reserve -39,826 -20,812 21,341 42,418 

The Group’s sensitivity to the stock markets remained virtually unchanged compared with the previous year. 

Management of interest rate risk

Management of interest rate risk involves hedging (fully or partially) the fluctuation of interest rates on debt with a 
fixed interest rate according to its own policy adopted by the Board of Directors of each entity based on its needs.

The average duration of the placement of fixed-term deposits is 30 days, and the average rate over 2013 is 0.3%. 
As at 31 December 2013, the average rate is 0.4%. The analysis below presents, at a like-for-like bank balance, the 
pre-tax impacts that the decrease in interest rates had on the Group’s profit.

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Variable of + 50 basis points 1,213 982

Variable of - 50 basis points -1,213 -982

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Variable in relation to the current average rate 181 -864

Management of foreign exchange risk

The Group invests mainly in positions in the Group’s functional currency (EUR). There is no significant exposure to 
foreign exchange risk.

Management of credit risk

Credit risk involves the risk that contracted third parties will not meet their commitments towards the Group during 
transactions with it.

Credit risk lies not at the Luxempart level but with the investments, which are responsible for managing their credit 
risk according to the specific terms appropriate for their situation.
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Luxempart has granted loans to companies of the Group, private companies, and individuals totalling  8,449 thousand 
as at 31 December 2013 (2012:  5,198 thousand). These assets represent 0.9% of Luxempart’s total assets.

If necessary, Luxempart may grant guarantees to companies in which it has invested. During 2013, there was no change 
in approach with regard to credit management.

Management of liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2013, Luxempart has no financial debts and has a high level of liquidity. The liquidity default risk 
is low.

Luxempart minimises its risk exposure by entering into commitments with financial institutions with a high rating. In order 
to minimise any concentration risk, Luxempart diversifies its exposure with a minimum of seven banking institutions.

Note 27 - Related parties

Revenue includes exclusively rebilling to associates. They relate to administrative expenses paid by the Company.

The Foyer Assurances group rebills, on a quarterly basis, office rental expenses and other related expenses, IT management 
services, insurance expenses, and miscellaneous services for a total of  627 thousand in 2013.

Consulting fees relating to a member of Luxempart’s Group Executive Committee are rebilled on a quarterly basis and 
total  206 thousand for financial year 2013.

Legal fees rebilled by the firm of a member of the board of directors as at 31 December 2013 are  21 thousand.

These various expenses are recognised in “Other operating expenses” (Note 4).

Note 28 - Events after the reporting period

Pescanova 

Luxempart is part of the consortium led by the Spanish industrial group Damm. This consortium submitted a restructuring 
and refinancing plan to Pescanova’s Board of Directors for a total of 150 million, to be funded by creditors, existing 
shareholders and the consortium.

This plan was unanimously approved by Pescanova’s Board of Directors at its meeting on 14 March 2014 and was 
submitted to the Commercial Court judge overseeing the court-supervised reorganisation. This plan will still have to 
be approved by the company’s creditors and existing shareholders in order to take effect.

If this plan is adopted, it could represent an additional investment for Luxempart of  15-25 million in the form of a 
capital increase and, predominantly, of senior debt.
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SES

Luxempart took advantage of the positive trend in SES’s share price to reduce the share’s weighting in its portfolio. 
The weighting of the SES holding was therefore reduced to around 20% of Luxempart’s estimated net assets.

Note 29 - Remuneration of the Réviseur d’entreprises agréé

The following table presents the Réviseur d’entreprises agréé’s remuneration:

(in thousands of E) 2013 2012

Audit of statutory and consolidated accounts 164 125

Other audit services - -

Total 164 125

Audit fees include the review of the interim consolidated accounts as at 30 June and the review of the accounts as at 
31 December. They are recognised in “Other operating expenses”.
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Luxempart ended financial year 2013 with a corporate profit of   97.48 million compared with   47.95 million at 
the end of 2012.

The increase stems mainly from the transfer of the SES dividends held by Luxempart Invest, higher dividends from RTL 
Group, gains realised on disposals of RTL Group securities and the revaluation of the investments in Direct Energie 
and Luxempart Capital Partners.

Main events of the year 2013: 

RTL GROUP

Luxempart sold half of its participation in RTL Group, reducing it from 0.8% to 0.4%, and realised a capital gain of 
  27.35 million.

PESCANOVA

In March 2013, Luxempart reduced its position in Pescanova convertible bonds from  17 million to  12 million. As 
at 31 December 2013, this position was valued at  1.87 million.

PNE WIND

In July 2013, Luxempart sold its bonds in PNE Wind and realised a capital gain of approximately  3 million. Including 
interest and other income, the investment in PNE Wind generated an overall profit of   6 million.

STOLL

In partnership with a German family, Luxempart acquired a minority participation in Stoll, a German manufacturer of 
front loaders for farm machinery.

DIRECT ENERGIE

Luxempart increased its participation in Direct Energie and now owns approximately 10% of the group created by the 
merger of Poweo and Direct Energie.

OTHER OPERATIONS

Luxempart slightly increased its holdings in Quip, Atenor, Direct Energie and Foyer.

Management report on the annual accounts
at 31 December 2013
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Allocation of profit

The profit after tax for the year is  97,483,233. Taking the retained earnings of  21,000,000 into account, the sum 
of  118,483,233 is available to the General Meeting.

The following allocation is proposed:

To the shareholders, as a dividend

(23,955,084 – 1,497,220 = 22,457,864 shares x  0.9077)  20,385,003

Allocation to “other reserves”  58,098,230

To results brought forwards  40,000,000

Total  118,483,233

Your Board proposes the payment of a dividend of:

  0.9077 gross per share (2012:  0.8252 gross per share)

i.e.  0.7715 net per share, after 15% withholding tax.

This proposal represents an increase of 10% compared with the previous financial year’s dividend.

The payment terms of the dividend will be communicated during the Ordinary Annual General Meeting of 28 April 2014.

Own shares

As at 31 December 2013, the Company holds 1,497,220 own shares (6.3% of capital) for an acquisition value of  
31.65 million.

Subsequent events

Changes in the Pescanova holding

Luxempart is part of the consortium led by the Spanish industrial group Damm. This consortium submitted a restructuring 
and refinancing plan to Pescanova’s Board of Directors for a total of  150 million, to be funded by creditors, existing 
shareholders and the consortium.

This plan was unanimously approved by Pescanova’s Board of Directors at its meeting of 14 March 2014 and was 
submitted to the commercial court judge overseeing the court-supervised reorganisation. This plan will still have to be 
approved by the company’s creditors and existing shareholders in order to take effect.

If this plan is adopted, it could represent an additional investment for Luxempart of  15-25 million in the form of a 
capital increase and, predominantly, of senior debt.
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Group financial policy

In 2014, developed economies are continuing their slow and fragile recovery from the economic crisis. With support 
from the European Central Bank’s highly accommodative monetary policy, the Eurozone is therefore expected to return 
to growth in 2014.

The Luxempart Group’s major risk is the exposure of its financial assets to market risk. The policy for managing this risk 
is established and controlled by the Group Executive Committee, the Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee.

Investments in listed companies represent 47% as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 54%) of the Group’s net assets.

The Group’s investments are mainly in companies listed on the stock exchange (Luxembourg Stock Exchange, Brussels 
Stock Exchange, and Paris Stock Exchange).

Management of market risk

Market risk applies to the loss in value of assets invested through the stock exchange in equity or mutual fund units. 
These securities are listed on the stock exchange and are thus subject to the variations and risks inherent in the 
financial markets. It is possible that at a given moment, the value of all or some of these securities will be less than 
the most recently established book value. A range of variation of +10% to -10% was applied to the valuation as 
at 31 December 2013. This variant influences the consolidated reserves and income statement. This risk variable is 
relevant and reasonably possible. Luxempart has a long-term view of its holdings and therefore does not systematically 
withdraw from its investments based on price volatility. Nevertheless, Luxempart S.A. monitors changes in the prices 
of its listed investments on a daily basis.

Management of interest rate risk

Management of interest rate risk involves hedging (fully or partially) the fluctuation of interest rates on debt with a 
fixed interest rate according to its own policy adopted by the Board of Directors of each entity based on its needs.

The average duration of the placement of fixed-term deposits is 30 days, and the average rate is 0.29%. 

Management of foreign exchange risk

The Group invests mainly in positions in the Group’s functional currency (EUR). There is no significant exposure to 
foreign exchange risk.

Management of credit risk

Credit risk involves the risk that contracted third parties will not meet their commitments towards the Group during 
transactions with it.

Credit risk lies not at the Luxempart level but with the holdings, which are responsible for managing their credit risk 
according to the specific terms appropriate for their situation.

Management of liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2013, Luxempart has no financial debts and has a high level of liquidity. The liquidity default risk 
is low.
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Research and development

Luxempart has no activity in the field of research and development.

Outlook

Luxempart’s main investments have announced the payment of an increased dividend in relation to the previous 
financial year.

Luxempart maintains the right to buy back own shares on the Luxembourg regulated market. The total number of 
shares bought back per financial year should not exceed 100,000.

Legal notice

Responsibility of the Board of Directors

The responsibility of the Board of Directors is determined by law. As such, it is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual accounts in accordance with the European directives transposed into Luxembourg law. The 
Board considers that it has fully complied with these obligations.

Declaration by responsible persons

In accordance with the law of 11 January 2008 relating to transparency obligations regarding information about issuers 
whose securities are admitted for trading on a regulated market, we declare that to our knowledge, the financial 
statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, provide a true and fair view of the assets 
and liabilities, financial position, and profits and losses of the Company and that the management report faithfully 
presents the growth, profits, and position of the Company.

Law of 19 December 2002

The information required by the law of 19 December 2002 (Article 68bis), updated version of 17 December 2010, is 
found in the Corporate Governance Charter, a version of which is available on the Company’s website: www.luxempart.lu.

Information in application of the law of 19 May 2006 regarding takeover bids

Luxempart’s share capital amounts to  59,887,710 represented by 23,955,084 fully paid-up common shares without 
any designation of a nominal value. There are no other share categories or options or pre-emptive rights entitling 
holders to the issuance of shares of another category that could have a dilutive effect on the number of shares issued. 
The issued shares all enjoy the same rights both with regard to their right to vote at ordinary and extraordinary general 
meetings and the dividend voted on by shareholders at general meetings. Note that there are no restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or special control rights for certain holders of these securities. No agreement between shareholders 
able to lead to restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights has been entered into.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Foyer Finance S.A., a financial holding company 
not listed on the stock exchange, which constitutes the largest group of companies to which the Company belongs, 
holds 10,434,240 shares of the Company out of a total of 23,955,084 issued shares, i.e., 43.50%.
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Luxempart implemented a Stock Option Plan for the members of the Group Executive Committee. Each year, the 
Company freely decides whether there is cause to allocate option rights or not. The granting of options is subject to a 
flat-rate entry taxation model. Option rights, where applicable, are allocated annually based on the length of service 
and the achievement of performance objectives of each person. The option right is subject to a lock-in period of three 
years and must be exercised within a period of ten years from the granting of the option right. The Stock Option Plan 
of members of the Group Executive Committee is supplied with own shares held in the portfolio in such a way that 
there is no creation of new dilutive shares for shareholders.

Members of the Board of Directors are appointed by the Annual General Meeting upon recommendation by the Board 
and after receiving the opinion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. They are appointed for a maximum 
term of six years. Normally, the mandate of Luxempart’s directors is three years, and the expiry dates are spread out so 
that one third of the terms of mandate are renewed each year. Their mandate is renewable. In principle, the mandate 
as director ends at the close of the Annual General Meeting that chooses the replacement.

The Annual General Meeting may revoke the directors at any time.

In the event that a director’s position is vacant, the Board of Directors may choose a replacement in compliance with 
the rules governing the appointment of directors. At the next Annual General Meeting, the shareholders decide on 
the final appointment, in principle for the remaining period of the mandate of the replaced director.

The Board of Directors, a body responsible for Luxempart S.A.’s management, has decision-making powers on all 
matters and can undertake all activities necessary or useful for meeting the Company’s corporate purpose, with the 
exception of powers that the law or the Articles of Association grant expressly to the Annual General Meeting. The 
responsibility of this body is to ensure the long-term success of the Company and its business activities, in the interest 
of the shareholders and by considering the interests of other stakeholders of the community in which the Company 
operates. The primary responsibility of the Board of Directors lies in the strategic management of the Company and 
the control over its business activities.

An Extraordinary General Meeting must be convened to deliberate on any modification of the Articles of Association 
as well as any increase or decrease in the share capital, unless the shareholders previously authorised the Board to 
increase the share capital under specific conditions, which is the case for Luxempart S.A., whose authorised capital 
amounts to €90,000,000. Following a decision taken by the Extraordinary General Meeting of 30 April 2012, the Board 
of Directors is authorised to carry out, under the conditions stipulated by article 5 of the Articles of Association, one 
or more capital increases in order to bring it up to €90,000,000; this authorisation expires on 30 April 2017.

Also note that there is no agreement to which Luxempart S.A. would be party that would be substantially amended 
or even terminated in the event that a takeover bid is implemented. Similarly, no agreement has been entered into 
between the Company and the members of its Board of Directors or its personnel providing for compensation in 
case of resignation, dismissal without valid reason, or if their employment was terminated because of a takeover bid.

 Alain HUBERTY François TESCH
 Director Managing Director

 Leudelange, 26 March 2014
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To the shareholders of 
Luxempart S.A. 
12 rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange

Report on the annual accounts

Following our appointment by the General Meeting of the Shareholders dated April 29, 2013, we have audited the 
accompanying annual accounts of Luxempart S.A., which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2013 and 
the profit and loss account for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors’ for the annual accounts

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual accounts in accordance 
with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation of the annual accounts, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the réviseur d’entreprises agréé

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing as adopted for Luxembourg by the Commission de Surveillance 
du Secteur Financier. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual accounts are free from material misstatement.

 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual 
accounts. The procedures selected depend on the réviseur d’entreprises agréé’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the réviseur d’entreprises agréé considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual accounts in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual accounts. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Report of the Réviseur d’entreprises agréé
at 31 December 2013



105Annual accounts at 31 December 2013   Luxempart S.A.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of Luxempart S.A. as of December 
31, 2013, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with Luxembourg legal and 
regulatory requirements relating to the preparation of the annual accounts.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The management report, which is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, is consistent with the annual accounts.

The statement of corporate governance as published on the Company’s website [http://www.luxempart.lu/], to which 
the management report refers, is the responsibility of the Board of Directors. As at the date of this report, this statement 
is consistent with the annual accounts and includes the required disclosures in accordance with the legal provisions 
relating to the statements of corporate governance

For Deloitte Audit, Cabinet de révision agréé

Christiane Chadoeuf, Réviseur d’entreprises agréé
Partner

28 March 2014
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Balance sheet
at 31 December 2013

Assets

(in E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets 3(b). 4

Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks,  
and similar rights and assets 2,829 6,601

Tangible fixed assets 3(b), 4  

Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment 105,906 70,234

Financial assets 3(c), (d), 5  

Shares in affiliated undertakings 613,458,822 560,473,838

Loans to affiliated undertakings 5,321,514 4,695,163

Participating interests 32,964,412 38,572,953

Loans to undertakings with which the  
Company is linked by virtue of participating interests 5 6,333,642 3,767,073

Securities held as fixed assets 5 145,794,952 178,059,962

Own shares 7 31,646,352 19,377,728

Total fixed assets 835,628,429 805,023,552

 

Current assets 3(d), 6

Trade debtors 397,355 496,229

becoming due and payable within one year 397,355 496,229

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings - 26,129

becoming due and payable within one year - 26,129

Other debtors 3,500,775 4,756,590

becoming due and payable within one year 3,500,775 4,756,590

Other transferable securities 40,897,082 29,523,391

Cash at bank, cash in postal cheque accounts,  
cheques and cash in hand 200,846,116 123,108,771

Total current assets 245,641,329 157,911,110

 

Total assets 1,081,269,758 962,934,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts.
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Balance sheet
at 31 December 2013

Liabilities

(in E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Capital and reserves 7

Subscribed capital 59,887,710 59,887,710

Share premium account 66,944,818 66,944,818

Reserves  

Legal reserve 8 5,988,772 5,988,772

Reserve for own shares 31,646,352 19,377,727

“Wealth tax deduction” reserve 9 1,784,840 2,309,840

Other reserves 522,164,111 505,808,972

Profit brought forward 21,000,000 20,095,651

Profit for the financial year 97,483,233 47,946,647

Gains which are temporarily not taxable 10 15,698,709 15,698,709

Total capital and reserves 822,598,543 744,058,845

 

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provision for pensions and similar obligations - 131,801

Provisions for taxation 2,822,662 3,978,577

Total provisions 2,822,662 4,110,378

 

Non-subordinated debt 3(f), 6

Trade creditor 1,512,427 691,190

becoming due and payable within one year 1,512,427 691,190

Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 253,799,000 213,799,000

becoming due and payable within one year - -

becoming due and payable after more than one year 253,799,000 213,799,000

Tax and social security debt 498,552 214,798

Tax debts 456,798 182,245

Social security debts 41,754 32,553

Other creditors 38,575 60,451 

becoming due and payable within one year 38,575 60,451 

Total debts 255,848,554 214,765,438

 

Total liabilities 1,081,269,758 962,934,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts.
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Profit and loss account
for the year ended 31 December 2013

(in E) Notes 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Charges

Staff costs 11 1,677,377 1,696,465

Wages and salaries 1,591,160 1,618,757

Social security costs accruing by reference to  
wages & salaries 72,482 65,856

Other social security costs 13,736 11,852

Value adjustments 27,832 19,428

Value adjustments in respect of  
tangible and intangible fixed assets 4 27,832 19,428

Other operating charges 12 5,463,695 2,326,363

Value adjustments in respect of  
financial fixed assets 5, 13 2,874,843 60,712,090

Value adjustments in respect of financial  
current assets. Losses on disposal of  
transferable securities 822,529 2,862,812

Interest payable and other financial charges 409,927 560,435

Concerning affiliated undertakings - -

Other interests payable and charges 409,927 560,435

Tax on profit 14 150,347 -

Other taxes not shown under  
the above items 14 142,908 358,760

Profit for the financial year 97,483,233 47,946,647

Total charges 109,052,692 116,482,999

Income

Other operating income 1,812,811 801,902

Income from financial fixed assets 15 103,778,163 106,812,436

Derived from affiliated undertakings 39,194,323 26,399,574

Other participating interests 64,583,839 80,412,862

Income from financial current assets 721,811 3,945,378

Other interest receivable and similar income 2,739,907 4,911,534

Derived from affiliated undertakings - 18,065

Other interest receivable and similar  income 2,739,907 4,893,469

Income tax adjustments 14 - 11,750

Total income 109,052,692 116,482,999

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts.
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Notes to the annual accounts
at 31 December 2013

1. General information

Luxempart S.A. (hereinafter “the Company” or “Luxempart”) was incorporated on 25 April 1988 under the name 
BIL Participations. The Annual General Meeting of 15 September 1992 decided to change the Company’s name to 
Luxempart S.A. The Company is registered on the trade and companies register of Luxembourg under no. B27846. 
The Company was created for an unlimited term.

The Company’s registered office is established at 12, rue Léon Laval in Leudelange. The Company is listed on the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Company’s financial year begins on 1 January and closes on 31 December of each year.

The Company’s purpose is particularly the acquisition of holdings, in whatever form, in other companies as well as 
management, control, and development of these investments.

2. Presentation of the accounts

In addition to the annual accounts, the Company presents consolidated annual accounts and a consolidated management 
report, which are available at the Company’s headquarters, on the basis of the legal and regulatory provisions established 
by Luxembourg law.

3. Significant accounting policies

The annual accounts are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in accordance with 
the law and regulations in force in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

The main accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows:

(a) Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities, expressed in foreign currencies, are converted to euros () at the exchange rates in 
force as at the closing date.

Transactions of the financial year, expressed in foreign currencies, are converted to euros () at the exchange rates in 
force as at the transaction date.

Only unrealised foreign exchange losses are recorded in the profit and loss account. Exchange gains are recognised in 
the profit and loss account at the time of their realisation.

(b) Intangible and tangible fixed assets

Intangible and tangible fixed assets are valued at the historical acquisition price including the expenses incidental thereto.
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Intangible and tangible fixed assets whose use is limited over time are depreciated on a straight-line basis according 
to the following rates:

Depreciated asset Rate

Computer equipment and software 33.3%

Vehicles 20.0%

Furniture and fixtures 10.0%

(c) Financial fixed assets 

Shares in affiliated undertakings

“Affiliated undertakings” refers to a holding in which Luxempart has exclusive control, holding decision-making power 
on both financial and operational levels. In principle, this control is the consequence of directly holding more than 
50% of the voting rights.

Shares in affiliated undertakings are valued at the historical acquisition price, which includes related expenses.

In case of permanent impairment, the shares in the affiliated undertakings are the subject of value adjustments in 
order to give them the lower value that should be attributed to them as at the balance sheet’s closing date. These 
value adjustments are not maintained when the reasons that motivated them have ceased to exist.

Participating interest

“Participating interest” refers to a company in which Luxempart exercises significant influence through its participation in 
the political, financial, and operational decisions of the held company. Significant influence is assumed when Luxempart 
holds 20% or more of the voting rights. “Participating interest” also refers to companies under joint control.

Participating interests are valued at the historical acquisition price, which includes related expenses.

In case of permanent impairment, Participating interests are subject of value adjustments in order to give them the 
lower value that should be attributed to them as at the balance sheet’s closing date. These value adjustments are not 
maintained when the reasons that motivated them have ceased to exist.

Securities held as fixed assets

“Securities held as fixed assets” refer to a holding in which Luxempart does not exercise significant influence. This lack 
of significant influence is assumed if Luxempart does not directly or indirectly hold more than 20% of the voting rights.

Securities held as fixed assets are valued at the historical acquisition price, which includes related expenses.

In case of permanent impairment, securities held as fixed assets are subject of value adjustments in order to give them 
the lower value that should be attributed to them as at the balance sheet’s closing date. These value adjustments are 
not maintained when the reasons that motivated them have ceased to exist.
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(d) Receivables

Receivables are stated at their nominal value. A value adjustment is recorded when the estimated realisable value is 
lower than the nominal value. These value adjustments are not maintained when the reasons that motivated their 
establishment have ceased to exist.

(e) Securities

Securities are assets acquired mainly with a view to be sold in the short term and presenting a profit-taking profile in 
the short term.

Value adjustments corresponding to the negative difference between the realisable value and the acquisition cost are 
not maintained when the reasons that motivated them have ceased to exist.

(f) Debts

Debts are recorded in liabilities at their redemption value.

(g) Value adjustments

Value adjustments are deducted directly from the affected asset.

4. Intangible and tangible fixed assets

Movements in intangible and tangible fixed assets that occurred during the year can be summarised as follows:

(in E) Software

Computer equipment,  
vehicles,  

furniture and fixtures

Gross value as at 01/01/2013 25,624 119,504

Acquisitions for the year - 55,918

Prepayments and tangible fixed assets under construction - 3,815

Disposals for the year - -

Gross value as at 31/12/2013 25,624 179,237

Cumulative value adjustments as at 01/01/2013 -19,022 -49,271

Value adjustments of the year -3,772 -24,060

Reversal of value adjustments - -

Cumulative value adjustments as at 31/12/2013 -22,794 -73,331

Net book value as at 31/12/2013 2,829 105,906

Net book value as at 31/12/2012 6,601 70,234
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5. Financial fixed assets

(a) Movements in financial fixed assets that occurred during the year can be summarised as follows:

(in E)

Shares in  
affiliated  

under- 
takings

Amounts  
owed by  
affiliated  

under- 
takings

Participating  
interests 

Loans to  
undertakings  

with which the  
Company is  

linked by virtue 
of participating  

interests

Securities  
held  

as fixed  
assets

Gross value as at 01/01/2013 573,545,222 4,695,163 42,699,342 3,767,073 252,486,890

Acquisitions for the year 40,012,500 626,352 7,205,057 2,566,569 9,616,376

Disposals for the year - - -12,813,599 - -51,896,835

Gross value as at 31/12/2013 613,557,722 5,321,514 37,090,800 6,333,642 210,206,431

Cumulative value  
adjustments as at 01/01/2013 -13,071,384 - -4,126,388 - -74,426,928

Value adjustments  
of the year - - - - -1,974,840

Reversals of value 
adjustments of the year 12,972,484 - - - 11,990,289

Cumulative value  
adjustments as at 31/12/2013 -98,900 - -4,126,388 - -64,411,479

Net book value as at 
31/12/2013 613,458,822 5,321,514 32,964,412 6,333,642 145,794,952

Net book value as at 
31/12/2012 560,473,838 4,695,163 38,572,953 3,767,073 178,059,962

The item “Shares in affiliated undertakings” amounts to, as at 31 December 2013, 613,458,822 (2012:  560,473,838). 
This change is mainly due to:

• A capital increase in Luxempart Ireland Limited

• The incorporation of Luxempart Management

• A reversal of a value adjustment on Luxempart Capital Partners

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings amount to  5,321,514 as at 31 December 2013 (2012:  4,695,163). The 
increase is mainly due to the loan to Ekkio Capital.

The item “Participating interests” amounts to, as at 31 December 2013,  32,964,412 (2012:  38,572,953). This change 
is due to:

• A reduction and an increase in capital in Indufin Capital Partners

• The acquisition of a holding in DMB2

• The capital increase in Quip

Amounts owed by undertakings with which the Company is linked by virtue of participating interest amount to, as at 31 
December 2013,  6,333,642 (2012:  3,767,073). This item is made up of a shareholder loan to DS Care and a shareholder 
loan to Quip Holding. These two loans were increased in 2013.
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The item “Securities held as fixed assets” amounts to, as at 31 December 2013,  145,794,952 (2012:  178,059,962). 
This change is due to:

• Acquisitions for  9,616,376 (mainly additions to the Direct Energie, Foyer and Atenor holdings and the acquisition of 
Ekkio Capital)

• Disposals for  51,896,835 (disposal of PNE (shares and convertible bonds) and a reduction in the RTL Group and 
Pescanova positions (convertible bonds))

• Value adjustments on Pescanova bonds for  1,974,840

• Reversals of value adjustments on Direct Energie for  11,090,289

• Reversals of value adjustments on disposals for  900,000

(b) Undertakings in which Luxempart holds at least 20% in the capital:

Company name Registered office
Holding 

%

Equity 
(excluding  
profit for  
the year)

Profit 
for the  

year

Luxempart Capital  
Partner S.A. Sicar

12, Rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange 100.0 135,006,980 693,053

Luxempart Ireland Ltd 1st floor, Riverview House, 
21-23 City Quay, Dublin 2 Ireland 100.0 253,957,951 -7,875

Luxempart Invest S.à r.l. 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange 100.0 209,456,057 13,567,789

Luxempart Management S.à r.l. 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange 100.0 12,500 -6,078

Pescahold S.A. 12, Rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange 100.0 31,000 -6,381

Algebra GmbH Steinstrasse 27 
D- 40210 Dusseldorf 88.0 132,524 21,077

Actoline IV S.A.S. 148. boulevard Haussmann 
F-75008 Paris 65.6 7,258,013 -4,976

Quip Holding GmbH Thomas Edison Str. 5-7 
D-52499 Baesweiler 51.0 2,831,619 -34,136

Indufin Capital  
Partners S.A. Sicar

12, Rue Léon Laval 
L-3372 Leudelange 50.0 56,140,266 6,337,047

DS Care S.A. 14, Rue du Marché aux Herbes 
L-1728 Luxembourg 45.0 15,766,781 -307,526

Indufin S.A. Interleuvenlaan 15 / D1 
B-3001 Leuven - Haasrode 40.0 129,525 3,002

DMB2 GmbH & Co.KG Colonnaden 25 
D-20354 Hamburg 32.0 11,715,000 -11,000

As part of the holdings in Quip Holding and DS Care, the company is managed jointly with other shareholders on the basis 
of a contractual agreement.
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6. Debtors and creditors

As at 31 December 2013:

• Trade debtors amount to  397,355 (2012:  496,229).

• Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings becoming due and payable within one year were paid during the year (2012:  
 26,129).

• Other receivables with a remaining life less than or equal to one year amount to  3,500,775 (2012:  4,756,590) and 
are made up of tax receivables for  1,417,840 (2012:  1,495,820) and miscellaneous receivables for  2,082,935 
(2012:  3,260,770). The miscellaneous receivables are mainly accrued interest not collected.

• Trade creditor amount to  1,512,427 (2012:  691,190).

• Debts owed to affiliated undertakings tota  253,799,000 (2012:  213,799,000) and are made up of a debt to 
Luxempart Ireland Limited.

• Tax and social security debts total  498,562 (2012:  214,798).

• Other debts amount to  38,575 (2012:  60,451).

7. Capital and reserves

The movements in the capital and reserves are broken down as follows:

(in E)
Subscribed 

capital

Share  
premium  
account

Legal  
reserve

Wealth  
tax  

reserve

Own  
share  

reserves
Other  

reserves

Profit  
brought  
forward

Profit  
for the  

year

Gains  
which are  

temporarily  
not taxable

as at 31/12/2012 59,887,710 66,944,818 5,988,772 2,309,840 19,377,727 505,808,972 20,095,651 47,946,647 15,698,709

Allocation  
of profit       

- Dividends        -18,943,535  

- Wealth  
tax reserve   -525,000 525,000   

- Other reserves      28,098,763  -28,098,763  

- Retained  
earnings     904,349 -904,349  

- Own share  
reserve     12,268,625 -12,268,625    

2013 profit        97,483,233  

As at 31/12/2013 59,887,710 66,944,818 5,988,772 1,784,840 31,646,352 522,164,110 21,000,000 97,483,233 15,698,709

As at 31 December 2013, subscribed capital of €59,887,710 is represented by 23,955,084 fully paid-up shares without 
designation of nominal value.
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During financial year 2013, the Company acquired 510,932 own shares at the average cost of €24.51, bringing the balance 
as at 31 December 2013 to 1,497,220 own shares. In accordance with the law, an amount equal to this value was deducted 
from “Other reserves” in order to be added to the unavailable reserve.

The accounting par value of the own shares is  3,743,050. It represents 6.25% of the subscribed capital in accordance 
with Article 49-2 of the law of 10 August 1915.

The Ordinary Annual General Meeting of 29 April 2013 decided to distribute a gross ordinary dividend of  0.8252 per 
share for financial year 2012.

8. Legal reserve

Under Luxembourg law, the Company must appropriate to the legal reserve a minimum of 5% of the net profit, until such 
reserve reaches 10% of the share capital. Distribution of the legal reserve is restricted. 

9. “Wealth tax deduction” reserve

In accordance with the tax laws, the Company reduced the wealth tax expense. The Company decided to allocate an amount 
corresponding to five times the amount of the wealth tax deduction to a restricted reserve. The period of unavailability of 
this reserve is five years from the year following that of the set-off of the wealth tax. The change in 2011 resulted from the 
merger and the  1,688,840 takeover of Audiolux.

The five-year period of unavailability relating to the 2006 “wealth tax” reserve has expired. The Ordinary General Meeting 
decided to release it and transfer it to “other reserves”.

Year Reserve Year Reserve

2007  621,000 2010  621,000

2008  621,000 2011 2,309,840

2009  621,000 2012 2,309,840

2013 1,784,840

10. Gains which are temporarily not taxable

As at 31 December 2013, this item amounts to  15,698,709 (2012:  15,698,709) and includes the capital gains from 
disposal on untaxed securities. These capital gains, recorded in liabilities on the balance sheet, result from application of 
Article 54 of the income tax law and are to be reinvested before the end of the second financial year of operation following 
the financial year of the disposal. If these capital gains are not reinvested within these periods, they are to be reversed 
through the profit and loss account and subject to tax.
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11. Staff costs

The number of employed personnel on average during financial year 2013 amounted to 8.5 (2012: 7.5), represented 
by the following categories:

Category

Number of 
people

2013

Number of 
people

2012

Managers 2 2

Support staff 6.5 5.5

Staff costs relating to the year are broken down as follows:

(in E) 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Wages and salaries 1,591,160 1,618,757

Social security costs accruing by reference to wages and salaries 72,481 65,856

Other social security contributions 13,736 11,852

Total 1,677,377 1,696,465

Of which pensions 65,584 54,247

12. Other operating charges

During the year, Luxempart paid net fixed compensation of  256,000 to the directors (2012:  240,000) and a net 
attendance fee of  168,000 (2012:  86.800). These amounts are included in “Other operating charges”.

13. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets 

This item includes:

 • Capital losses generated on the sale of long-term securities. During financial year 2013, Luxempart realised capital 
losses of  900,002 (2012:  12,897,918).

 • Value adjustments on securities held as fixed assets. As at 31 December 2013, Luxempart recorded total value 
adjustments of  1,974,840 (2012:  47,814,171).
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14. Taxes

The Company is fully taxable on its trade income at an effective rate of 29.97%. It is also subject to a wealth tax of 
0.5% calculated on the basis of net assets at the beginning of the year. Taxes come from ordinary activities.

As at 31 December 2013, the tax expense is broken down as follows:

(in E) 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

Corporate income taxes (IRC) 107,460 -11,750

Municipal business taxes (ICC) 42,888 -

Wealth tax -29,592 -42,760

Other taxes 172,500 401,520

Total 293,256 347,010

15. Income from financial fixed assets

This item consists of:

 • Dividends received from Luxempart’s financial fixed assets. During financial year 2013, Luxempart received  
48,037,892 (2012:  25,546,679).

 • Capital gains generated on the sale of securities held as fixed assets. Disposals generated a total capital gain in 
2013 of  30,777,497 (2012:  64,194,225).

 • Reversals of value adjustments on securities held as fixed assets. As at 31 December 2013, Luxempart recorded 
reversals of value adjustments for  11,990,289 (2012:  17,071,532).

16. Post balance sheet events

With respect to the Pescanova investment, Luxempart is part of the consortium led by the Spanish industrial group 
Damm. This consortium submitted a restructuring and refinancing plan to Pescanova’s Board of Directors for a total 
of  150 million, to be funded by creditors, existing shareholders and the consortium.

This plan was unanimously approved by Pescanova’s Board of Directors at its meeting of 14 March 2014 and was 
submitted to the commercial court judge overseeing the court-supervised reorganisation. This plan will still have to be 
approved by the company’s creditors and existing shareholders in order to take effect.

If this plan is adopted, it could represent an additional investment for Luxempart of  15-25 million in the form of a 
capital increase and, predominantly, of senior debt.
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17. Transactions with related parties 

Transactions with related parties are broken down mainly as follows:

• Loan to Quip Holding for  4,159,334.

• Loan to DS Care S.A. for  2,172,823.

• Loan to Actoline IV for  4,555,738.

• Loan to Ekkio Capital for  480,600.

• Loan received from Luxempart Ireland Limited for  253,799,000.
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